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Please note that in this Annual Report: 

 

Reference to “Council” is intended the Newfoundland and Labrador Council of Health 

Professionals governing members and committees; 

References to “College” are those health professions colleges designated and legislated under 

the Health Professions Act (2010, Newfoundland and Labrador): 

College of Audiologists and Speech-Language Pathologists of Newfoundland and Labrador 

(CASLP-NL) 

College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of Newfoundland and 

Labrador 

(CTCMPANL) 

Newfoundland and Labrador College of Dental Hygienists 

(NLCDH) 

Newfoundland and Labrador College of Medical Laboratory Sciences 

(NLCMLS) 

Newfoundland and Labrador College of Respiratory Therapists 

(NLCRT) 

Reference to “the Act” is The Health Professions Act, (2010, NL). 
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Message from Chair      

 

It is my pleasure to present the annual report for the Newfoundland and Labrador Council of Health 

Professionals (NLCHP).  This report documents the activities of the NLCHP aimed at fulfilling its 

responsibilities under the Health Professions Act (Act) for the period of April 1, 2014-March 31, 2015. 

Also included in this report are the annual reports for the health professional colleges (“Colleges”) who 

currently sit as members of the NLCHP for the period January 1, 2013 December 31, 2014. 

Recognizing that Council is made up of volunteers, with approximately a 30 % turnover per year, it was 

important for Council to accurately define, designate and delineate the authority and responsibility of 

the Council and the staff.  Council recognized that it needed a strategic plan that identified its mission, 

vision and values as a Council, a human resources plan, and a governance and accountability structure in 

order to effectively deliver on its mandate. I am pleased to say that during this past year we completed 

all three key activities.  

In preparation for work on its first strategic plan, Council and staff conducted an environmental scan of 

regulatory bodies to identify trends in the area of professional regulation as well as a survey of Council 

members, College executive members and other stakeholders. The strategic plan ultimately approved by 

Council for 2015-2017 focuses on two (2) strategic directions: ensuring that the NLCHP has a robust 

quality assurance program and optimizing systems and processes to support the role and function of 

both the NLCHP and the Colleges. The strategic plan also outlines goals and targets with responsibility 

assigned to each target that now form the basis of reporting to the Council. 

As we continue to work together on our common goal, that of ensuring competent professionals 

providing quality services to public, Council and the Colleges continue to recognize the benefits of the 

current structure.   Although collaboration takes time and commitment by all parties, emerging as one 

of the benefits is a sharing of experience and the development of common policies and guidelines.  

The Council values its relationship with the Department of Health and Community Services as it works to 

draft regulations for midwifery in the province. We look forward to proclamation of these regulations. In 

closing I wish to extend a sincere appreciation to the Council, its committees, the Colleges and staff of 

NLCHP for their commitment to the work of the Council during this past year.   

 

Colin Power B.Sc. MLT         
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Message from the Registrar    

        

      

It is my pleasure to report on the activities of the Registrar and the NLCHP office for the period of April 

1, 2014 to March 31, 2015. During this past year we are pleased to inform you that as of December the 

office moved to a new location and is now co-located with the College of Licensed Practical Nurses of NL 

and operates out of 209 Blackmarsh Road.  With the increased workload associated with the quality 

assurance activities during this past year, the NLCHP now employs: a full-time Registrar; a full-time 

Deputy Registrar and a full-time Administrative Assistant.  

Consistent with the mandate of the NLCHP, registration and renewal of registrations continue to be a 

major focus for the office.  During this past year staff completed registrations and registration renewals 

for 6 health professions, and as of March 31, 2015 the NLCHP had 1076 registrants on its health 

professional register. As of December 2014 the Registrar now carries responsibly to approve both initial 

and renewal of registration applications.  This change has led to improved turnaround time for 

registration and allows the Registration Committee to focus on broader issues with respect to the 

registration of health professionals under the Act.  

During this past year two (2) individuals were identified to be working in the province without a 

registration. One of these individuals was unaware of the requirement to register and one (1) had 

initiated the process but commenced work prior to approval of their registration. In both instances the 

registrants and their employer were contacted to reinforce the requirement for registration and 

registrants were required to complete the jurisprudence course for their profession as part of the 

registration process. 

In addition to registration, the office conducted an audit of 242 registrants’ portfolios to determine 

compliance with their College continuing education (CE) requirements.   Based upon the QA Assessors’ 

assessments, 94% of registrants met their requirement and follow-up is ongoing for those who did not 

meet requirements. Based upon the results of the audit and feedback from the QA Assessors, Colleges 

are continuing to refine their criteria and educate their membership regarding CE requirements.  

In developing a comprehensive QA program the QA Committee identified that assessment of a 

registrant’s practice against standards of practice would become a major focus for its quality assurance 

activities. The committee indicated that there are areas of practice where common standards could be 

developed and would be applicable to all health professions. Staff subsequently developed a resource 

manual on privacy, confidentiality and consent considerations that includes generic standards, policy 
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templates and self-assessment tools. Colleges are currently reviewing the draft manual with the view to 

adopting and/or adapting the standards and guidelines for their members.  

Over this past year there have been additions to the registration database which facilitated improved 

reporting to Colleges and the Registration Committee.  With the addition of quality assurance activities, 

additional work is now required on the database to ensure that the system and processes utilized by 

staff are efficient and that we maximize the use of the NLCHP database.  

The NLCHP in collaboration with the Colleges, and with funding support from Health Canada, developed 

on-line jurisprudence education modules for six (6) professions as well as an on-line Canadian Health 

Care System education module. The modules are available for access by health professionals and the 

general public on the NLCHP web site www.nlchp.ca. With the completion of the modules, Colleges have 

mandated their members (as part of their CE credit requirement for 2015) complete the on-line 

jurisprudence as well as the provincial on-line education modules for the Personal Health Information 

Act, NL (PHIA). To ensure that all registrants are aware of their legislative obligations, the NLCHP has 

made successful completion of both on-line education modules a registration requirement for all new 

registrants. 

The Registrar and staff of the NLCHP office continue to be the public face for the NLCHP. Office staff 

receive multiple phone and e-mail requests for information and other advice regarding registration as 

well as questions regarding registrant’s continuing education requirements. Staff also respond to calls 

seeking information on issues of practice from employers, registrants and the general public. In addition 

to responding to inquiries for information, the Registrar is the contact for complaints regarding a 

registrant’s practice. During the past year the Registrar has, with the consent of the registrant and the 

complainant, resolved one formal complaint against a Registered Dental Hygienist regarding 

unprofessional conduct utilizing section 37 of the Health Professions Act. 

Over the past year staff have developed and distributed three (3) newsletters to registrants. The focus 

of these newsletters was on registrant obligations with respect to their registration with the NLCHP.  

The Council continues to evolve as evidenced by the adoption of its first strategic plan, approval of its 

approach to governance and the adoption of its human resource policies and practices. The completion 

of this work provides specific direction to staff as it carries out the mandate on behalf of Council.    This 

year has been extremely busy as we continue to build systems and develop processes to support the 

mandate of the NLCHP. I wish to recognize the Deputy Registrar and Administrative Assistant for their 

hard work and commitment to the ongoing work of the Council. Without dedicated and competent 

employees and the active involvement of Council members, the NLCHP would not have been able to 

effectively meet its mandate.  

 

Louise Jones BN MBA 

 

http://www.nlchp.ca/
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Legislation Mandate of the NLCHP and the Colleges 

To provide context to this report it is important to understand that the NLCHP’s focus is on registration 

of individual health professionals, conducting quality assurance (QA) of a professional’s practice and 

responding to allegations/complaints about a health professional’s practice. The health professional 

colleges designated under the Act (“Colleges”) focus on standards for the profession and have a 

responsibility to establish the standards for registration, articulating the standards of practice, scope of 

practice and code of ethics.  

Ultimately whether it is the duties/responsibilities/activities carried out by the NLCHP or the Colleges, 

the goal is to ensure that there are competent health professionals providing quality care to the public.   

Governance 

The NLCHP is governed by an 18 member council (“Council”) including 6 public representatives named 

by government through the Department of Health and Community Services (DHCS). Again this year 

there has been significant turnover with 6 members leaving and 6 members joining the Council. A full list 

of Council membership for 2014-2015 is found at the end of this section. 

The Council has 3 standing committees as outlined in the Act; the Registration Committee, the Quality 

Assurance Committee (QA) and the Complaints Authorizations Committee (CAC). In addition, the Council 

has established a Finance and Human Resources Committee. 

Now that registration and quality assurance activities have been operationalized for over 1000 

registrants, Council recognized that it would have to establish a permanent organizational structure with 

appropriately skilled staff to carry out the day to day operations of the NLCHP.  Council also recognized 

that despite initially itself being involved in day to day operations it must also identify an appropriate 

governance structure and accountability mechanism in order for the NLCHP to fulfil its mandate as 

identified in the Health Professions Act (Act). 

Based upon research conducted by the Finance and Human Resources Committee, Council approved its 

human resource plan on May 29, 2014. Included in the plan was a revised job description for the 

Registrar. The positon was renamed Registrar and CEO and includes responsibility for the day to day 

operations of the NLCHP as well as providing advice and support to the Council.  

To assist Council’s transition from operational to governing, Council engaged Jane Pardy of Flow 

Consulting to provide education on governance and to facilitate its first strategic plan. During the 

development of its strategic plan the Council reviewed trends in professional regulations and feedback 

from stakeholders including its Colleges and other regulatory bodies.  The Council believed that in order 

to deliver on the NLCHP mandate it must have a well-developed QA program. It also understood that 

Council could only effectively carry out this mandate if the Colleges and the Council worked together 

and supported each other in the development of programs and activities to support as well as evaluate 

registrants’ practices.  See Appendix A pp.24 for the NLCHP Strategic Plan.   
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The Council maintains a sound financial position as evidenced by the financial audit report for 2014-

2015 (Appendix B pp. 24.) With respect to its sound financial position, it is understood that 

operationalization of a robust QA program requires considerable funding and additional registration 

revenue. Without additional registration revenue, implementation of the mandated QA Program will be 

slow.  Government is encouraged to complete the development of regulations for both midwives and 

medical radiation technologists as the revenue generated from these registrations can be applied to 

further operationalize the proposed NLCHP-QA Program.  

The Council met 8 times during the past year and lists the following major accomplishments of the 

NLCHP Council.  

 

Highlights and Accomplishments 2014-2015 

 Approved lease for new space and furnishings for 209 Blackmarsh Road; 

 Participated in governance education session by Flow Consulting on April 24, 2014; 

 Adopted a model of governance including accountability and reporting format for Council; 

 Contracted with Flow Consulting to facilitate its first strategic plan on September 20, 2014; 

 Approved its first strategic plan on November 5, 2014; 

 Approved its human resources policies and organizational structure May 29, 2014; 

 Conducted the  Annual General Meeting (AGM) on September 23, 2014; 

 Approved revisions to the  NLCHP by-laws respecting the role of the Registrar; 

 Completed the development of 6 on-line jurisprudence education modules. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“Ultimately whether it is the 

duties/responsibilities/activities carried out by 

the NLCHP or the Colleges, the goal is to 

ensure that there are competent health 

professionals providing quality care to the 

public.”   L. Jones 
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The NLCHP-March 31, 2015 

Council       Council Committees 

 

Health Professional Members   Registration Committee   

  

Chris Murphy   R. S-LP   Colin Power(C) Ethne Munden 

Jennifer Kryszak  R. Aud    Nikki Curlew  Bonnie O’Leary 

       Jason Riddle  Douglas Wright 

Barb Draper  R. Ac                                Louise Jones  Roger Cook 

Ethne  Munden R. Ac    Jennifer Kryszak 

         

Roger Cook  RRT    Quality Assurance Committee 

Bonnie O’Leary RRT        

       Bonnie O’Leary (C) Kay Matthews  

Tanya Costello RDH    Dan Mercer  Chris Murphy 

Dan Mercer  RDH    David Phillips  Curtis Martin  

       Cheryl Bailey  Barb Draper 

Colin Power (C) MLT    Cindy Holden* Louise Jones* 

Curtis Martin  MLT          

       Complaints Authorization Committee 

Pearl Herbert  AMNL     

Kay Matthews  AMNL    Ethne Munden (C) Kay Matthews 

       Bonnie O’Leary Donna Strong  
       Colin Power  
Public Members     

       Finance/Human Resources Committee 

Joan Cleary       

Douglas Wright     Jason Riddle  Leona Lewis 
Donna Strong      Tanya Costello Pearl Herbert   

Elizabeth Whitten     Louise Jones*  Elizabeth Whitten 

   

David Phillips      

Jason Riddle      (C) Chair  

       *Ex-offico    

NLCHP Staff 

          
Louise Jones  Registrar/CEO 

Cindy Holden  Deputy Registrar     

Lori Newhook  Administrative Assistant    
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Registration Committee 

Colin Power Chair  

Given the experience of the past two years the Registration 

Committee reflected upon its responsibility and how to best meet 

the obligations as set out in the Heath Profession Act (Act). The 

Registrar now reviews and approves initial and renewal of registration applications that met the criteria 

as identified in the regulations. On the other hand, the Registration Committee reviews applications that 

do not meet the criteria or where the Registrar wishes to seek additional advice with respect to an 

individual applicant.   

With the move away from reviewing all registration and renewal of registration applications the 

committee has started to focus its attention on developing and reviewing the NLCHP policies with 

respect to registration.  In particular the committee reviewed the registration category of non-practicing 

and has had subsequent discussion with the DHCS regarding the implications of non-practicing 

registrations. Ultimately it was determined that if registrants were to maintain a non-practicing 

registration with the NLCHP that the individual should be required to have professional liability 

insurance. In reviewing this issue the committee also made a recommendation that Colleges extend 

their membership to enable individuals who were not currently registered with the NLCHP to apply to 

be members in the honorary membership category. This will allow individuals who wished to remain 

connected with their profession the ability to maintain this connection with their College versus having 

to be registered as a non-practicing member of the NLCHP.  

During the year the committee developed policies on continuing education/professional development 

(CE/PD) requirements for renewal of registration including the consequences for non-compliance for 

registrants who did not meet the criteria. The committee also has reviewed policies, including the 

supervision requirements as established by Colleges, for general status temporary registration. During 

the discussion the committee wished to ensure that there were safeguards with respect to supervision 

of registrants who had written but had not received the results of their national exams. During this 

discussion the committee explored the broader issue of whether there should be a temporary 

registration category. It was noted that for some professions national exams occur once a year and 

research shows that it is important to keep a new graduate connected to the work environment to 

maintain skills and increase their confidence.   

In order to ensure that registrants are aware of their obligation as members of a self-regulated 

professions the Registration Committee with the agreement of the health professions Colleges has 

mandated the completion of the NLCHP on-line jurisprudence education module as well as the on-line 

education module for the Personal Health Information Act (PHIA,NL) for all new applications.  

The committee met 4 times during the past year and the following lists the major accomplishments of 

the Registration Committee.  
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 Revised the terms of reference for the 

committee to permit the Registrar to approve 

registrations; 

 Reviewed the non-practicing registration 

category and made a recommendation to the 

DHCS that registrants be required to carry 

professional liability insurance;  

 Developed policies for continuing 

education/professional development including 

consequences for non-compliance; 

 Reviewed the policies on general status 

temporary registrations including  supervision 

requirements for new graduates; 

 Approved the requirement for all new 

registrants to complete the NLCHP on-line 

education module for jurisprudence and 

Personal Health Information Act, NL (PHIA)  . 

  

 

            

      

Highlights and Accomplishments of the Registration Committee 2013-2014 
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Quality Assurance Committee     
 
Bonnie O’Leary Chair 
 

 

The Quality Assurance (QA) Committee completed work on the development of the first NLCHP-QA 

Program framework. The framework for the NLCHP- QA Program was approved by the Council at its 

April 23, 2015 meeting. Included in the framework are 3 areas of focus:  Focus # 1: Professional Portfolio 

Assessment; Focus #2: Assessment of Heath Professional Standards; Focus # 3: Investigation of a 

Concern. 

During the past year the QA Committee identified, trained and approved 9 QA (CE) Assessors to 

commence the audit of professional portfolios. To date the Assessors have completed 242 audits for 

continuing education/professional development requirements. Given that many of the professions are 

new to the requirement of mandatory continuing education, we are pleased to report that over 94% of 

registrants audited are meeting their college CE requirement. Follow-up is being carried out with those 

who did not meet their college established CE requirements. 

The committee recognized that in focus area #2 (Assessment of Health Professional Standards) there are 

a number of areas of practice where the Colleges could work to develop common standards or 

guidelines. The QA Committee identified privacy, confidentiality and consent as an area where common 

standards could be considered.  Over the past year the office has developed draft standards as well as a 

resource manual including self-assessment tools for registrants in the area of privacy, confidentiality and 

consent. The draft manual is now being reviewed by the Colleges who will decide if the standards and 

resources will be adopted and/or adapted for use within their profession. 

It is anticipated that an assessment process with respect to common area standards will occur over the 

next couple of years. Prior to any assessment will be the need for Colleges to adopt and educate their 

members regarding the standards. Once the Colleges have instructed members on the new 

expectations, there will be a process of self-reflection/self-evaluation using the tools developed by the 

QA Committee. After a period of self-assessment, a random assessment of registrants against the 

standards will be performed and feedback provided. Once the process for audit of common standards 

has been implemented and evaluated the QA Committee will request Colleges to identify other areas of 

assessment that are critical to ensure competence of members.  

Given the cost to develop standards and to develop validated assessment tools, the pace of 

implementation for focus #2 of the NLCHP-QA program will be restricted by the fiscal capacity of the 

NLCHP.  In operationalizing the NLCHP-QA program the QA Committee will be challenged to answer the 

following questions: Why is this assessment important and how does this assessment assist in ensuring 
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registrant competence. The NLCHP anticipates full implementation of its QA program over the next 7-10 

years.  

The committee met five (5) times during the past year and the following lists the major 

accomplishments of the QA Committee.     

 

Highlights and Accomplishments of (QA) Committee 2014-2015 

 

 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   “The NLCHP anticipates full implementation  

of its QA program over the next 7-10 years.” 
 

 

 Conducted education training in February 2015  

for new QA (CE)  Assessors; 

 Conducted an  audit in March 2015 of  242  

continuing education portfolios for five health 

professions; 

 Developed  the first NLCHP QA program for 

approval by the Council; 

 Developed a position statement  on Social Media 

for consideration and/or adoption by colleges;  

 Developed standards on privacy, confidentiality 

and consent considerations for health 

professional registrants.  
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Complaints Authorization Committee (CAC)  

Ethne Munden Chair     

Members of the Complaints Authorization Committee (CAC) raised 

a number of questions regarding the content of the NLCHP 

professional conduct review manual (November 2013). Given the 

nature of the questions the CAC consulted with legal counsel to clarify sections of the manual. The 

committee questioned if the manual should be more specific in its approach to a number of areas (i.e. 

timeline for accepting complaints, transfer of information between jurisdictions etc.). Based upon the 

advice the committee continues to work to evolve the manual with the understanding that a manual is a 

guide that provides general direction with respect to complaints investigation and management. 

The committee also addressed the issue of support to the committee recognizing the fact that the 

Health Professions Act (Act) does not allow the Registrar to be a member of the CAC. After consultation 

with legal counsel the terms of reference were revised to allow for the Registrar to be invited to a 

meeting, but the Registrar cannot be present or participate in any decision of the CAC when an 

allegation is referred to the committee by the Registrar.  

The CAC requested Colleges to submit their list for membership on the disciplinary panel as some 

members’ terms were finished. The NLCHP Disciplinary Panel including the first chair of the panel was 

approved by the Council at the April 23, 2015 meeting. 

The CAC in accordance with its terms of reference met on two (2) occasions during this past year and 

the following lists the major accomplishments of the CAC Committee.  

  

Highlights and Accomplishments CAC 2014-2015 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Obtained legal advice with respect to clarification of a 

number of areas of the current professional conduct review 

manual; 

 Revised section of the professional conduct review manual; 

 Revised the terms of reference for the CAC; 

 Updated the membership on the disciplinary panel and 

named its first disciplinary panel chair. 
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Finance and Human Resource (HR) Committee 

Jason Riddle Chair 
 

The Finance and Human Resource Committee worked to ensure 

that the NLCHP has sufficient funds to enable Council to discharge 

its duties under the Health Professions Act (Act). During this past year the Council continued to maintain 

a positive cash flow position and increased its reserve funds for discipline hearings. 

The committee continues to develop and revise existing financial policies and has commenced the 

development of the human resource policies (i.e. occupational health and safety, working alone etc.)  In 

addition to developing and approving human resource policies the committee completed a human 

resources plan including job descriptions with salary and benefits scales for staff that was approved by 

the Council on May 29, 2014. With the approval of the human resource plan, the day to day operation of 

the NLCHP is the responsibility of the Registrar and CEO.  

The committee developed the 2015-2016 budget for Council approval that saw no increase in fees for 

registrants and continues to maintain a projected positive cash flow position for the NLCHP. 

The financial processes continue to evolve with the Deputy Registrar maintaining responsibility for data 

entry and monthly financial reconciliation.  The committee has implemented, as part of the CEO report, 

a financial update on a quarterly basis.   The committee also oversaw preparation for both the 2014 and 

the 2015 financial audit process and we are pleased to report that the audit for 2014-2015 did not 

reveal any issues for the Council. The audited financial statements are included with this report in 

Appendix B on page 24.  

During this past year the committee worked with the Registrar to identify a new office location and 

negotiated on behalf of Council the lease and furnishing of the office space. 

The Finance and Human Resources Committee met on six (6) occasions during this past year and the 

following lists the major accomplishments of the Finance /Human Resources Committee.         
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Highlights and Accomplishments Finance/HR 2014-2015 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“….the 2015-2016 budget …saw no increase in fees for registrants and 

continues to maintain a projected positive cash flow position for the 

NLCHP.” 

 

 

 

  

 Approved policies to support human resources 

management i.e. occupational health and safety, working 

alone); 

  Recommended  to Council  an organizational  structure 

including  a salary and benefits plan for employees; 

 Developed the draft budget for 2015-2016 for approval by 

Council; 

 Increased its reserve for discipline hearings;  

 Oversaw the 2014-2015  financial audit on behalf of 

Council;  

 Worked with the Registrar and negotiated  on behalf of 

Council  lease of the new office.  
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Registration Statistics 

Given that the Council currently registers six (6) health professions Council recommended that NLCHP 

registration, college membership and professional liability insurance certificates carry the same expiry 

date.  Based upon this recommendation the registration periods for each of the disciplines is: 

Medical Laboratory Technologists (MLT)    January 1- December 31 

Laboratory Health professional (LHP)    January 1- December 31 

Registered Respiratory Therapists (RRT)    April 1- March 31 

Traditional Chinese Medicine Acupuncturists (R. Ac.)  June 1-May 31 

Registered Speech-Language Pathologists (R.S-LP)  July 1- June 30 

Registered Audiologists  (R. Aud.)    July 1- June 30  

Registered Dental Hygienists (RDH)    December 1-November 30 

Registration numbers change from month to month with new registrants entering the profession and 

registrants electing to not renew registrations at time of renewal of registration.  For trending purposes 

the NLCHP utilizes March 31 for compilation of its yearly statistics.  

The following table lists the 3 year comparison of registrants as of March 31, 2015. Given that we have a 

number of individuals who are registered in more than one category of registration (i.e. LHP and MLT) 

the number that the NLCHP will use for comparison purposes is the number of individuals who hold a 

registration with the NLCHP. 

 

Registrations by Health Profession as of March 31 

Health Profession 2013 2014 2015 

LHP 33*1 26*2 22*3 

MLT 525 509 509 

R. Ac. 36 33 33 

R. Aud. - 30 33 

RDH - 196 207 

RRT 130 136 141 

R.S-LP - 138 136 

Total 716 (724) 1068 (1074) 1076 (1081) 
 

*1 - includes 8 LHP who are also MLT 

*2 - includes 6 LHP who are also MLT 

*3 - includes 5 LHP who are also MLT 
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In comparing the registration statistics for the six (6) health professions over the last 2 years we have 

seen an increase of only 8 individuals (or .07% increase). The NLCHP does not collect information on 

vacancies or demand for services in the province as the NLCHP is a regulator and not a service provider. 

It should be noted that occasionally we do hear from employers (mostly in rural areas) that they have a 

number of vacant positions. These positions are generally hard to fill positions within the organization.   

In addition to hard to fill positions where vacancies exist employers indicate that they are generally 

temporary or casual call in.    

The reporting capability of the NLCHP database is increasing as we collect more information through 

registration, renewal and/or inactivation of a registration.  Over time the reporting capability will 

increase and comparisons and trending within the professions will be able to occur. Given the 

information currently available in the database we are able to provide additional information regarding 

the characteristics of the health professions that we register.  

The following table provides information regarding initial or new registrations with the NLCHP during 

2014-2015. As can be seen in the table below over 70 % (42/58 registrants) are new graduates who are 

registering for the first time with a regulatory organization.  

 

New registrations by discipline for the period April 1, 2014-March 31, 2015 

NEW REGISTRATIONS BY DISCIPLINE - APRIL 1, 2014 - MARCH 31, 2015 

Discipline New Registrations Total 

  New Grads Other   

Medical Laboratory Technologists (MLT) 26 3 29 

Respiratory Therapists (RRT) 6 1 7 

Traditional Chinese Medicine Acupuncturists (R. Ac) 1 0 1 

Speech-Language Pathologists (R.S-LP) 2 1 3 

Audiologists (R. Aud) 3 3 6 

Dental Hygienists (RDH) 4 8 12 

Total New Registrations 42 16 58 

 

The following table contains the average age of registrants in each health profession. As can be seen the 

average age of health professionals that we register, except for LHP which has an average age of 55 

years, is less than 40 years of age.  It should be noted that LHP is a closed classification of registration 

with the NLCHP and there has been a 30% attrition rate (11/33) in this classification over the past 3 

years. It is anticipated that this trend will continue given the age profile of LHP’s.  
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Average Age by Health Professional 

 

 

The following tables provide data on the individual health professions including information for the 

period April 1, 2014- March 31, 2015. 

 

Laboratory Health Professionals – Total Registrants  - 22 

Data Elements Category 
As of March 
31, 2015 

Age Profile Average Age 55 

Gender 
M 
F 

6 
16 

Employer 

Eastern Region Health Authority (EH) 
Central Region Health Authority  (CH) 
Labrador-Grenfell Region Health Authority (LH) 
Western Region Health Authority (WH)  
Other 

5 
12 
1 
3 

  11 

Attrition n Employee Specified Leave (Sick, Parental, Personal, Other)  
Retired 

            3 
1 

 

  

Average Age of Registrants 

Health Profession and Age Category  

 
 

53 55 

43 41 39 40 40 36  39 
36 

36    37 37  40  40 

55 

41 

36 
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Medical Laboratory Technologists – Total Registrants – 509  

Data Elements Category 
As of March 31, 

2015 

Registration Designation General Status 
General Status – Subject Registered 

 Clinical Genetics         13 
 Diagnostic Cytology   17 
 Clinical Chemistry       6 
 Hematology                 8 
 Microbiology               4 

461 
48 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Age Profile Average Age 41 

Gender M 
F 

86 
423 

Employer Eastern Region Health Authority (EH) 
Central Region Health Authority (CH) 
Labrador-Grenfell Region Health Authority (LG) 
Western Region Health Authority (WH)  
Other 

295 
82 
33 
75 
23 

New Graduates  26 

Attrition Employee Specified Leave (Sick, Parental, Personal, Other) 
Retired 

16 
16 

 

Registered Acupuncturists – Total Registrants - 33 

Data Elements Category 
As of March 31, 

2015 

Age Profile Average Age 40 

Gender M 
F 

6 
27 

New Graduates  1 

Attrition Employee Specified Leave (Sick, Parental, Personal, Other) 
Retired 

0 
0 

 

Registered Audiologists – Total Registrants - 33 

Data Elements Category 
As of March 31, 

2015 

Age Profile Average Age 39 

Gender M 
F 

7 
26 

Employer Eastern Region Health Authority (EH) 
Central Region Health Authority (CH) 
Labrador-Grenfell Region Health Authority (LH) 
Western Region Health Authority (WH)  
Other 

12 
4 
1 
3 

13 

New Graduates  3 

Attrition Employee Specified Leave (Sick, Parental, Personal, Other) 
Retired 

4 
0 
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Registered Dental Hygienists – Total Registrants - 207 

Data Elements Category 
As of March 31, 

2015 

Registration Designation General Status 
General Status with Additional Skills: 

 Local Anesthetic                  32*
1
 

 Orthodontic Procedures    19*
2
 

 Restorative Procedures      1 

155 
52 

 

Age Profile Average Age 36 

Gender M 
F 

7 
200 

Employer Eastern Region Health Authority (EH) 
Labrador-Grenfell Region Health Authority (LH) 
Other 

0 
3 

204 

New Graduates  4 

Attrition Employee Specified Leave (Sick, Parental, Personal, Other) 
Retired 

8 
1 

*
1 – 

(1) combined registrations with Orthodontic Procedures 

*
2 

- (3) combined registrations with Restorative Procedures 
 

Registered Respiratory Therapists – Total Registrants - 141 

Data Elements Category 
As of March 31, 

2015 

Age Profile Average Age 37 

Gender M 
F 

33 
108 

Employer Eastern Region Health Authority (EH) 
Central Region Health Authority (CH) 
Labrador-Grenfell Region Health Authority (LH) 
Western Region Health Authority (WH)  
Other 

81 
16 
6 
8 

30 

New Graduates  6 

Attrition Employee Specified Leave (Sick, Parental, Personal, Other) 
Retired 

3 
1 

 

Registered Speech-Language Pathologists – Total Registrants - 136 

Data Elements Category 
As of March 31, 

2015 

Age Profile Average Age 40 

Gender M 
F 

3 
133 

Employer Eastern Region Health Authority (EH) 
Central Region Health Authority (CH) 
Labrador-Grenfell Region Health Authority (LH) 
Western Region Health Authority (WH)  
Other 

42 
10 
5 

13 
69 

New Graduates  2 

Attrition Employee Specified Leave (Sick, Parental, Personal, Other) 
Retired 

6 
3 
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Reviewing the 1076 health professional registrants with the NLCHP, it can be noted that the majority of 

registrants (83%) are female. 

As we increase the reporting capability of the NLCHP database we are able to offer some assistance in 

understanding changes in registration numbers for the health profession. During this past year there 

have been 62 registrants who did not renew their registration with the NLCHP. The tables above provide 

detail as to the changes for each profession.  For the period April 1, 2014-March 31, 2105  34% (21/62) 

retired from their profession, 31% (19/62) indicated they left the province, 11% (7/62) indicated they 

were on maternity leave and 25%  (15/62) did not renew  and did not provide a reason for non-renewal 

of their registration.   

Although we have only started collecting information on attrition, even with 25% of registrants not 

providing information or reason for non-renewal of their registration, there was a significant increase in 

2014-2015 in the number of registrants who indicated that they were leaving the province. Additionally 

the number of registrants on maternity leave in 2014-2015 has decreased while retirements remain the 

highest reason for non-renewal of registration with the NLCHP.     

 

The NLCHP Website 

The NLCHP operates a web site at www.nlchp.ca. The site contains information about the NLCHP, its 

strategic plan, registration processes and forms, policies to support the registration process, how to 

make a complaint, the complaint management processes of the NLCHP, education for registrants and 

the general public as well as copies of the NLCHP registrants newsletters . As per the requirement under 

the Act the website also provides access to the health profession college websites. 

Similar to the previous report, access to the website by visitors (unique IP addresses) has remained 

steady throughout the year with increased numbers corresponding to time of registration. It should be 

noted that registrants are directed to the website to download registration and registration renewal 

information. Following this section is the monthly average visits to the website. 

Reviewing website usage with Webalizer1 an Internet analysis tool, it will show many patterns but also 

hourly use of the NLCHP website on a 24 hour time schedule. The Webalizer© analysis is comprehensive 

and shows visits from many origins, but during a 24 hour segment, usage peaks between the hours of 

8am and 4pm local time spiking mid-morning and midafternoon; daytime business hours. The analysis 

tool shows that more than 40% of visits are using “nlchp” or search strings such as “health professional’s 

regulation [N]ewfoundland,” suggesting that the public is aware of the NLCHP or at least are able to 

access the NLCHP website to gain additional information.  

                                                           
1
 The Webalizer© - A web server log file analysis tool 

    Copyright 1997-2013 by Bradford L. Barrett 
 

http://www.nlchp.ca/
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YEAR VISITS PER YEAR AVG VISITS PER DAY 

2013 13020 36 

2014 17610 49 

2015 
 

63 
 

In addition to website access, the NLCHP staff respond to 2 dedicated e-mail accounts 

(secretary@nlchp.ca and contact@nlchp.ca) and e-mail directly received by the Registrar, Deputy 

Registrar and Administrative Assistant. Through these and many telephone inquiries, staff respond to 

requests for information and/or clarification of issues on registration, insurance coverage, continuing 

education requirements, college membership, as well as the roles and duties of council and the colleges.  

 

 

Allegations/Investigations  

During this past year Council identified two (2) individuals (one speech-language pathologist, one 

audiologist) who were not registered but were working in the province. One individual was unaware of 

the requirement to register and one (1) had initiated the process but commenced work prior to approval 

of their registration. In both instances the registrants and their employers were contacted to reinforce 

the requirement for registration and registrants were required to complete the NLCHP jurisprudence 

course for their profession as part of the registration process.  

 

mailto:secretary@nlchp.ca
mailto:contact@nlchp.ca
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Council is in a great 

position to 

capitalize on a 

number of 

opportunities that 

are aimed to 

ensure registrants 

are competent, and 

provide quality 

service to the 

general public. 

NLCHP 

The Registrar and Deputy Registrar have been consulted by 

employers and registrants on a number of occasions in the past year 

to discuss issues of scope of practice for various health 

professionals within its jurisdiction. In exploring the issues staff 

sought additional information from employers, consulted the 

respective colleges and reviewed applicable legislation.  Once all 

information was gathered the caller was notified of the results of 

the investigation. Based upon staff investigations it was determined 

that no additional follow-up would be required.  

During the past year the Registrar received one (1) formal allegation 

from the Newfoundland and Labrador College of Dental Hygienists 

(NLCDH) regarding unprofessional conduct of a registrant. The 

Registrar with the consent of the registrant and the complainant, 

resolved the complaint against utilizing section 37 of the Health 

Professions Act. 

 

Opportunities and Challenges  

The Council has made significant progress again this year as it 

continued to develop policies and processes to support its 

operations.  The adoption of the Councils first strategic plan focuses 

the work of the Council over the next 3 years. The NLCHP’s strategic 

directions including the development of a robust QA plan and 

ensuring highly functional Colleges to support the work of the 

Council that is  key to delivering on the mandate as set out in the 

Act. 

 

As a new regulatory body, with the authority legislated in the Health 

Profession Act, Council is in a great position to capitalize on a 

number of opportunities that are aimed to ensure that registrants 

are competent and provide a quality service to the general public. In 

addition to the opportunities that were listed in the previous year’s 

annual report, the development of a comprehensive QA program 

will continue to expand the Council and Colleges’ horizons and 

develop expertise in the area of assessing clinical competency. 

Listed below are the most significant opportunities for the Council:  
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Continue to share information and expertise among the Council and 
Colleges to accelerate development of College and Council processes; 

 
To provide education to the general public and offer the public a 
forum/opportunity to make an allegation/complaint regarding a 
practitioners practice; 

 
Continue to utilize Council’s infrastructure to provide support for the 

Colleges so that they can concentrate on fulfilling their mandate under the 

Act; 

Continue to develop shared standards/guidelines for adoption/adaption by 

Colleges and enhancing collaboration among the profession; 

Continue to explore validated approaches to the assessment of clinical 

competency. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Council Chair Colin Power as he addresses the 2014 AGM  
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As the Council continues to move forward there are a number of challenges that it will continue to face 

with the most significant being: 

Council Challenges 

 

 

                                                 

                                                    To adopt best practices for processes that are  

                                                         uniform yet sensitive to the cultures and 

                                                            traditions within the various health 

                                                                                professions; 

 

 

 

 

              To work with Colleges To educate the public and the  

              to ensure Colleges and Council have             registrants on the respective roles 

              the capacity to fulfill their role                     of the Council and Colleges: 

                as partners in the regulatory  

                   process; 

 

                                                   

                                                  To ensure transparency  

                                             and accountability of Council  

                                                            activities. 

 

 

                                              

                                           
 

 

 

 



24 
 

 

 

Appendices 

A. The NLCHP Strategic Plan 

B. Audited Financial Statements 

C. College Reports 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



25 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A. The NLCHP Strategic Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Approved November 2014 

 

 

  

 

Newfoundland and Labrador Council of Health Professionals 

Strategic Plan  

 

January 2015-December 2017 



Strategic Plan 2015 – 2017 | NLCHP 

 

 

1 November 1, 2014 

MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIR 
  

I am so pleased our Council members were able to come together on September 20th, 2014 to develop its 

first strategic plan for the years 2015-2017.  This followed a member and stakeholder survey and 

interview process that helped us understand our challenges, opportunities, strengths and weaknesses.  

During our facilitated day-long retreat, there was a great deal of synergy as we considered issues and 

trends and formulated our response to strategic issues that we all agree must be addressed.   

 

We approached our planning process understanding that:  

 Our strategic plan should focus on ‘make or break’ issues.  These are issues or conditions that must 

be addressed for us to remain relevant and responsive.  Our responses to these ‘make or break’ 

issues are referred to as our strategic directions. 

 Our “make or break” issues resulted from our analysis of the opportunities and challenges facing 

us.  A synopsis of our situational analysis is included in this plan.   

 Our strategic directions begin to live when they are accompanied by goals and time frames which 

articulate accountability for implementation.  While we have articulated goals and timeframes in 

this plan, on an annual basis we will also be developing an operational plan that further details 

how we will achieve our strategic directions and goals.   

 

Our strategic directions are: 

1. Further develop a robust quality assurance program for NLCHP. 

2. Implement systems and processes that optimize and support the role and function of Council and 

its Colleges. 

I am confident we have chosen the right areas of focus for us for the next three years.  I am also 

confident that Council will now take these strategic directions and will move forward to achieve success 

in our plan.  At each of our Council meetings, we have agreed to review our progress and on an annual 

basis we will assess new internal and external conditions to ensure our strategic plan remains meaningful 

and relevant.  As well, as a component of our annual reporting process, we will formally report on 

progress achieved in our strategic plan. 

Strategy is about establishing direction, passion and momentum.  We are already on the right road.  Now 

we must travel and navigate forward together. 

 

Colin Power BSc, MLT 
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THE NEWFOUNDLAND AND LABRADOR COUNCIL OF HEALTH PROFESSIONALS  
 

The Newfoundland and Labrador Council of Health Professionals (NLCHP) is an independent body 

established by legislation under the Health Professions Act (2010).  As of October 2014 the Council is 

responsible for governing the regulation of eight health professional groups of: 

 

 Acupuncturists 

 Audiologists 

 Dental Hygienists 

 Medical Laboratory Technologists 

 Medical Radiation Technologists  

 Midwives 

 Respiratory Therapists 

 Speech-Language Pathologists 

 

Our broad areas of responsibility are to: 

 Support the quality and safety of health services; 

 Enhance public protection; 

 Improve client/patient safety and to strengthen the regulatory system; 

 Facilitate client/patient-centered inter-professional collaboration and care. 

 

 

1 MISSION 

 

We ensure that our registrants are competent health professionals providing quality care/service to the 

people of the province.  

2 VISION 

 

We work as partners with our stakeholder community to achieve excellence in professional regulation 

through an unwavering commitment to accountability, transparency and sustainability.  
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3 VALUES 

 

Integrity:   

We are honest and ethical in all our interactions. 

 

Commitment:   

We are united in our commitment to innovation, rigour and pragmatism for evidence-informed 

decision-making.  

 

Respect:  

We engage others with genuine care and respect, openness and trust in pursuit of a common purpose. 

 

Accountability and Transparency:  

We accept responsibility for achieving common goals and objectives. 

 

Consensus:   

We work through consensus, ensuring all views are considered in making decisions that are in the best 

interest of public protection. 

 

Sustainability:  

We act in a manner that is environmentally, economically and socially sustainable.  
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SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS 
 

Today’s health care system is under tremendous financial pressure to deliver high quality health care 

services within finite resources.  New models of care are being implemented at a time when there is a 

growing imperative for inter-professional team practices.  Health professionals are working in an 

environment where exclusive scopes of professional practice are being challenged.  Health professionals 

also work in a variety of settings including the public sector, private sector in both solo and team-based 

practice. This represents a challenge for health professionals who are expected to not only provide 

comprehensive care/service to the public, but to do so within the context of collaboration and 

overlapping scopes of practice.  These trends also challenge regulators who must work with registrants 

and other regulatory bodies on the development of appropriate common standards to address issues 

such as complaints.  

 

Technologies: Emerging new technologies are also shaping how health care is delivered and how 

clients/patients access information that addresses their health care needs.  There is also an ever-

increasing public demand for accountability and improved access.  With the explosion in social media, 

there is an insatiable demand for instant response: “in a moment” has taken on a new meaning.  These 

changes require awareness by the Council in partnership with the regulated profession to develop 

policies to ensure best practices for enhanced public safety.  

 

Labor Mobility:  On both the federal and provincial government levels, there is a drive to reduce barriers 

to labour mobility across all provincial jurisdictions through a common set of competencies for each 

profession.  Given the tight labour demand for some health professions, federal and provincial 

governments are also pushing for a streamlined approach for competency assessment of internationally 

educated graduates.   These are processes that will impact the future work of NLCHP.   

 

Population Changes:  The impact of the aging baby-boomer population is upon us.  The number of 

health professionals anticipating retirement within the next five to ten years will continue to escalate.  

Regulatory bodies must be engaged partners with employers, government, and education and training 

providers to ensure a sufficient supply of graduates to meet health care needs. 

 

Mandate Challenges:  The NLCHP’s mandate is unlike other regulatory authorities in the country in that 

Council works in collaboration with the health profession Colleges to register and oversee practice for 

multiple health professions.  Many regulatory bodies are interested in how the NLCHP operationalizes 

and works within its legislated mandate.  Key challenges are:   
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 What is the appropriate role and function of a unifying Council that consists of discreet 

professional regulatory colleges having relatively low numbers of registrants? 

 How best should Council work in collaboration with the Colleges in carrying out the registration, 

quality assurance and complaint management processes? 

 How do the volunteer College members who also serve as Council members carry both roles in a 

way that honours the needs and requirements of both organizations? 

 

While the NLCHP has successfully navigated many start-up issues with the hiring of staff, capacity issues 

remain at the College level that at times impacts the NLCHP’s efficiency in carrying out its own mandate.  

We know we must address the issues of staffing of the NLCHP as well as the Colleges’ capacity to 

respond in a timely fashion to the requests for decisions within their mandate.  The Colleges’ capacity to 

respond will become more critical, especially given the provincial government’s desire for the NLCHP to 

regulate additional professional groups in the future.  Indeed, with the addition of Medical Radiation 

Technologists and Midwives , the NLCHP will have approximately 1500 registrants and will  be one of the  

three largest health regulatory authorities  within the province (behind Registered Nurses and Licensed 

Practical Nurses, and with Social Workers also having approximately 1500 registrants).  

The distinct and separate role and function of the NLCHP and the Colleges is yet to be well understood 

by individual members.  Additional efforts will be required to ensure college members understand our 

regulatory function and that advocacy is not within our mandate or the mandate of the Colleges.   In the 

future, there is also a need to ensure the public understands the role and mandate of the NLCHP.   

 

Survey Results: In August 2014, through an independent body, the NLCHP surveyed Council members, 

College Board members and members of the Health Professionals’ Regulatory Network. We achieved an 

exceptionally high response rate1.  The Council/College executive member survey results illustrate some 

of our significant strengths:  

 100% stated they understand the role and mandate of NLCHP; 

 94% state they either completely agree or mostly agree NLCHP communicates well with them; 

 84% state they either completely agree or mostly agree NLCHP communicates well with its 

stakeholders; 

 100% state they either completely agree or mostly agree NLCHP appropriately respects its own 

role; 

 100% state they either completely agree or mostly agree NLCHP respects the role of Colleges 

under the HPA; 

 100% state they either completely agree or mostly agree NLCHP is performing well in meeting 

its legislated mandate; 

 96% state they either completely agree or mostly agree NLCHP efficiently manages its resources. 

 

                                                           

1 Council/College Board member survey response rate was 72% and the Health Professionals’ Regulatory Network response 

rate was 60%. 
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The above findings are also very much reflective of survey results from the Health Regulators’ Network 

and of interviews held with several officials at the Department of Health and Community Services.   

 

Conclusion: Taken together, the key issues and challenges identified through stakeholder surveys and 

interviews as well as through the NLCHP’s strategic planning retreat, fall within the following major 

themes: 

 

 Implement a governance model that supports a successful and sustainable transition from start-

up operations to strategic governance; 

 Develop capacity to address current and future needs of Colleges and the NLCHP, including 

future growth in the number of professions regulated through the NLCHP; 

 Develop the ways and means of ensuring the Colleges and the NLCHP have effective processes, 

policies and procedures to ensure compliance with professional standards and continuing 

education requirements; 

 Ensure the public are aware of the role and mandate of the NLCHP in assuring public protection; 

 Ensure succession planning and corporate knowledge transfer and processes exist at both the 

College and NLCHP levels. 

 

 

Based upon the situational analysis the NLCHP identified a number of areas for focus that it will 

prioritize over the next 3 years.  Recognizing that Council has limited manpower and limited resources, 

the strategic plan sets out the priorities but work will be ongoing in many areas by both the Council and 

the NLCHP office to fulfil the mandate as set out in the Health Profession Act. 
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STRATEGIC DIRECTION 1:  
Ensure policies and procedures support a robust Quality Assurance Program for 
the NLCHP. 
 

Our collective efforts in developing and implementing a robust quality assurance program are 

instrumental in providing assurance to the public and our partners that our health professionals are 

competent and able to meet high standards of practice.  The NLCHP is in the process of developing a 

phased approach in the establishment of a Quality Assurance Program.  Phase 1 is already implemented 

and is focused on audits of continuing education requirements.  Phase 2 will focus on audits of common 

areas of practice across health professions. Finally, Phase 3 will focus on specific areas of practice that 

are profession-specific.  When fully implemented, the NLCHP-Quality Assurance Program will be one of 

the ways to assure the public that registrants are qualified and continue to carry carry out their practice 

within the standards for the profession.  A comprehensive evaluation of the Quality Assurance Program 

will be conducted to ensure that our quality assurance activities are relevant and evidence-informed.   

 

Goal By When 

1.  Develop a comprehensive three-phased quality assurance program  March 2016 

2. Develop and commence implementation of the program 
As components are 

developed 

3. Evaluate the quality assurance program for effectiveness  Beginning March 2017 

 

 

Expected Outcome:  

 Registrants of the NLCHP are competent and meet the standards of practice for their profession  

 

Indicators:   

 Approved QA Program 

 Number of registrants on initial registration who have condition on their registration 

 % of registrants who meet CE requirements on renewal of registrations 

 % of registrants who meet CE requirements on random audit per audit cycle 

 % of registrants who meet QA performance  requirements on audit (other than CE) 

 Number of practice investigations conducted by the QA committee/per year 

 Number of allegations per health profession/per year 

 Developed tools and processes for phase 2 (privacy and confidentiality) audit processes 

 Colleges identify at least one specific practice area for audit 

 QA program spending within allocated budget 
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STRATEGIC DIRECTION 2:  
Optimize systems and processes to support the role and function of both the 
NLCHP and its Colleges. 
 

The aim of this strategic direction is to honour the autonomy and role of the regulated Colleges while 

optimizing capacity of these Colleges to meet their legislated mandate.  Success will also mean 

additional Council capacity through effective communication and decision-making channels and a 

governance model that enables Council’s focus on strategic and policy issues of importance (versus 

operational matters that are within the day-to-day scope of our staff).  Thus, optimizing our potential 

capacity and processes are considered a critical success factor for NLCHP, both now and as other 

professions are regulated under the the Health Professions Act. 

 

Goal By When 

1. Implement a governance model that enables NLCHP’s members to 
focus on strategic/governance issues and for  staff to focus on 
operations  

January 2015 

2. Ensure NLCHP committees are supported to meet their legislated 
mandate 

Ongoing 

3. Where possible, ensure Council staff support Colleges in meeting 
their obligations under the Health Professions Act 

Ongoing 

4. Develop and implement a communications plan that helps 
registrants understand the role and function of the NLCHP and 
Colleges 

Commencing April 2015 

  

Expected Outcome:  

 Council has the capacity and the appropriate tools/resources to fulfil its legislative mandate; 

 Registrants understand their responsibilities as a self-regulated health professional. 

 

 

Indicators:   

 Approved NLCHP shared governance model; 

 Redeveloped Council agenda and reporting schedules for committees;  

 % attendance at Council meetings;  

 Yearly board evaluation completed; 

 Number of requests from Colleges for council support;  
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 Average response time by Colleges to Council request for input/direction;  

 Number of policies and procedures developed and /or revised/per year; 

 Office Operations Manuel completed; 

 Approved communication plan for registrants; 

 % increase in number of hits to the web site/per year; 

 The NLCHP operates within approved budget.  

 

 

OPERATIONALIZING OUR PLAN 

 

The process of fully developing and implementing Council’s Quality Assurance Program and of 

optimizing our current systems and processes will represent significant Council work over the next three 

years.  In adopting these directions as an area of focus, Council is also aware that many of the primary 

functions i.e. registration of health professionals will continue to evolve and require ongoing overview 

by the Council.   

 

In adopting the strategic plan that identifies the “make and or break issues” for the Council, the Council 

commits to monitor its plan though the regular review of the measures identified with each of the 

strategic directions. Monitoring of the plan will be conducted though CEO and committee reports to the 

Council. 

 

Staff and committees will identify the resources required to achieve the objectives as set out in the 

strategic plan.  Council through its yearly budget development process must ensure that it allocates 

resources based upon the mandate of the Council and the priority directions adopted by the Council. 

This strategic plan will be enabled by an annual operational plan that ensures Council staff are equipped 

and supported to achieve success in both our strategic directions and in ongoing day-to-day matters. 

 

As we travel our implementation path, we will annually assess success and make prudent mid-course 

corrections as new opportunities and challenges arise.  These measures will help sustain the momentum 

we collectively aim to harness. 
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Richard Power, FCA
221E Memorial Drive

Clarenville, NL
A5A 1R3

Tel 709.433.3060
Fax 709.433.3166

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Members of Newfoundland and Labrador Council of Health Professionals

I have audited the accompanying financial statements of Newfoundland and Labrador Council of Health
Professionals, which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2015 and the statements of
revenues and expenditures, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
Canadian Accounting Standards for Not-for-Profit Organizations, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from  material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit.  I conducted my audit in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require that I comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion. 

Opinion

In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Newfoundland
and Labrador Council of Health Professionals as at March 31, 2015 and the results of its operations and  its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian Accounting Standards for Not-for-Profit Organizations.

Clarenville, Newfoundland and Labrador
June 24, 2015  Chartered Professional Accountant

1



NEWFOUNDLAND AND LABRADOR COUNCIL OF HEALTH PROFESSIONALS

Statement of Financial Position

March 31, 2015

2015 2014

ASSETS

CURRENT
Cash $ 20,476 $ 100,784
Term deposits (Note 2) 532,675 401,052
Accounts receivable 61,746 416
Prepaid expenses 1,959 899

616,856 503,151

CAPITAL ASSETS (Note 3) 12,137 9,282

$ 628,993 $ 512,433

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 4) $ 49,267 $ 13,644
Deferred income (Note 5) 72,409 58,702

121,676 72,346

NET ASSETS
Unrestricted net assets 507,317 440,087

$ 628,993 $ 512,433

ON BEHALF OF THE COUNCIL

_____________________________ Council Chair

_____________________________ Chair of Finance and Human Resource Committee

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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NEWFOUNDLAND AND LABRADOR COUNCIL OF HEALTH PROFESSIONALS

Statement of Revenues and Expenditures

Year Ended March 31, 2015

2015 2014

REVENUES
Registration fees $ 378,561 $ 433,066
Internationally Educated Health Professionals funding 78,410 23,661
Provincial Midwifery Committee funding 10,021 -
Interest income 7,745 1,052
Other fees 2,600 2,850

477,337 460,629

EXPENSES
Advertising and promotion 321 2,795
Amortization of capital assets 3,594 3,545
Business taxes, licences and memberships 10 10
Consulting fees 8,136 -
Insurance 2,043 1,744
Interest and bank charges 6,676 12,118
Internationally Educated Health Professionals expense 35,573 10,200
Meetings 3,141 1,552
Office 8,723 9,005
Professional fees 8,387 10,619
Provincial Midwifery Committee expense 10,391 -
Quality assurance assessment 1,925 1,300
Rental 47,151 33,026
Repairs and maintenance 1,436 1,558
Salaries and wages 264,514 162,863
Telephone 5,622 5,103
Training 590 1,625
Travel 1,874 1,946

410,107 259,009

EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER EXPENSES $ 67,230 $ 201,620

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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NEWFOUNDLAND AND LABRADOR COUNCIL OF HEALTH PROFESSIONALS

Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Year Ended March 31, 2015

2015 2014

NET ASSETS - BEGINNING OF YEAR $ 440,087 $ 238,467

Excess of revenues over expenses 67,230 201,620
  

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR
  

$ 507,317
  

$ 440,087

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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NEWFOUNDLAND AND LABRADOR COUNCIL OF HEALTH PROFESSIONALS

Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended March 31, 2015

2015 2014

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Excess of revenues over expenses $ 67,230 $ 201,620
Item not affecting cash:

Amortization of capital assets 3,594 3,545

70,824 205,165

Changes in non-cash working capital:  
Accounts receivable (61,330) (416)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 35,623 (13,846)
Deferred income 13,707 18,702
Prepaid expenses (1,060) (55)
Employee deductions payable - (10,012)

(13,060) (5,627)

Cash flow from operating activities 57,764 199,538

INVESTING ACTIVITY
Purchase of capital assets (6,449) (1,354)

INCREASE IN CASH FLOW 51,315 198,184

Cash - beginning of year 501,836 303,652

CASH - END OF YEAR $ 553,151 $ 501,836

CASH CONSISTS OF:
Cash $ 20,476 $ 100,784
Term deposits 532,675 401,052

$ 553,151 $ 501,836

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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NEWFOUNDLAND AND LABRADOR COUNCIL OF HEALTH PROFESSIONALS

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended March 31, 2015

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS  

Newfoundland and Labrador Council of Health Professionals (the "council") is incorporated under the
Corporations Act of  Newfoundland and Labrador without share capital.  The council is exempt from
income taxes under paragraph 149 on the Income Tax Act of Canada.

The following health professions are subject to the Health Professions Act:
Acupuncturists
Audiologists
Dental Hygienists
Medical Laboratory Technologists
Medical Radiation Technologists
Midwives
Respiratory Therapists
Speech Language Pathologists

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES        

Basis of presentation

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with Canadian Accounting Standards for Not-
for-Profit Organizations  (ASNFPO).

Investments

Short term investments, which consist guaranteed investment certificates with original maturities at
date of purchase beyond three months and less than twelve month, are carried at amortized cost. 

Capital assets       

Capital assets are stated at cost or deemed cost less accumulated amortization. Capital assets are
amortized over their estimated useful lives on a declining balance basis at the following rates and
methods:

Computer equipment 30% declining balance method
Computer software 30% declining balance method
Website 10% declining balance method

Capital assets acquired during the year are amortized for a full year when they are placed into use.

Revenue recognition

The council recognizes revenues when they are earned, specifically when all the following conditions
are met:

 members registration is confirmed

 there is clear evidence that an arrangement exists

 amounts are fixed or can be determined

 the ability to collect is reasonably assured.

(continues)
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NEWFOUNDLAND AND LABRADOR COUNCIL OF HEALTH PROFESSIONALS

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended March 31, 2015

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments policy   

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value when acquired or issued. In subsequent periods,
financial assets with actively traded markets are reported at fair value, with any unrealized gains and
losses reported in income. All other financial instruments are reported at amortized cost, and tested
for impairment at each reporting date. Transaction costs on the acquisition, sale, or issue of financial
instruments are expensed when incurred.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian Accounting Standards for Not-
for-Profit Organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amount of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period.
Such estimates are periodically reviewed and any adjustments necessary are reported in earnings in
the period in which they become known. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

3. CAPITAL ASSETS         
2015 2014

Cost Accumulated Net book Net book
amortization value value

Computer equipment $ 10,048 $ 6,038 $ 4,010 $ 4,708
Computer software 7,718 4,654 3,064 3,211
Furniture and fixtures 4,262 426 3,836 -
Website 1,683 456 1,227 1,363

$ 23,711 $ 11,574 $ 12,137 $ 9,282

4. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES          

2015 2014

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 24,506 $ 10,920
Fees payable to Colleges 24,761 2,724

$ 49,267 $ 13,644

5. DEFERRED REVENUE            

Deferred revenue relates to registration fees collected in advance for the next fiscal year and funds
received for the Internationally Educated Health Professionals (IEHP) program that were remaining at
March 31, 2014.

2015 2014

Deferred registration revenue $ 47,550 $ 46,550
Deferred IEHP Program funding 24,859 12,152

$ 72,409 $ 58,702

7
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Newfoundland and Labrador  

College of Medical Laboratory Sciences (NLCMLS) 

 

The NLCMLS (College) was created out of the professional society (NLSMLS) in the summer of 2012. 

It was decided by the board and ratified at our Annual General Meeting of October 2011 that we would 

suspend operation of the professional society and concentrate solely on the professional college. 

 

The professional college (NLCMLS) came into existence on October 5, 2012 with the government’s 

formal acceptance of the MLT regulations. 

 

Just prior to the government’s approval of the regulations, the College had to undergo its first 

registration for all practicing medical laboratory technologists in the province of NL.  We are not a 

stand-alone entity as we are part of an umbrella organization – Newfoundland and Labrador Council of 

Health Professionals (NLCHP). The NLCHP (Council) currently represents seven (7) colleges of health 
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                                                                          www.nlcmls.ca 

 

 

professionals, including NLCMLS. Information on the Council and the other professions within its 

jurisdiction can be found on the NLCHP website www.nlchp.ca.  

 

 

 

Our current registration consists of 509 Medical Laboratory Technologists (MLT) and 22 Laboratory 

Health Professionals (LHP). The LHP’s are registered to carry out specific duties as defined by the 

employer and are only registered to carry out these duties. These individuals had their education 

qualifications reviewed by the College of the North Atlantic and the NLCHP Registration Committee. It 

was determined that 6 of the 33 required practice assessments and these assessments were carried out by 

consultants who were contracted for this purpose. 

 

The mandate of the NLCMLS is protection of the public and a major focus for us is the continuing 

education and professional development of our members. In this light our college has focused this year 

in developing a continuing education program and finding ways to help engage our members in this 

program.  

 

The College has revived our past practice of Symposiums and we will be holding two (2) Symposia per 

year with varying locations and the intent of opening up our educational delivery to a wide audience. 

This will allow many of our colleagues to present and showcase their expertise. In addition we will be 

broadcasting our symposia across the province to enable provincial participation. 

 

In the spring of 2014 we held our Symposium in Marystown on April 12-13, 2014. By all indications it 

was a success with participation across the province via the Internet and a large turnout of our members 

in person. The College would like to thank Curtis Martin, Dave Rowsell and their organizing committee 

for their hard work and determination.  

 

Our Fall Symposium and Annual General Meeting was held in Grand Falls on October 3-5, 2014.The 

College would like to thank Cynthia Bishop and her organizing committee for their hard work, creativity 

and determination. 

 

We have developed a number of policies which can be found on the college website. www.nlcmls.ca. 

Please take the time to review these policies. 

 

Over the past year we have been able to consolidate the collection of college fees with those of the 

Council. This has enabled us to streamline the collection of fees so that all fees, including those for the 

Canadian Society of Medical Laboratory Sciences (CSMLS) are collected once per year by the NLCHP. 

This has allowed the NLCMLS better efficiency for our members. 

 

 

http://www.nlchp.ca/
http://www.nlcmls.ca/
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The Council approved its first strategic plan in November 2014 and focussed on two main areas of 

importance for the College: 

 

1. Developing a robust Quality Assurance Program. 

2. Council consulting with the Colleges to support processes that assist the work to align with the 

Council legislated mandate. This is one of our challenges as outlined below. 

 

With this Annual Report we take the opportunity as a professional body to highlight the opportunities 

and challenges that we as a professional college face. 

 

Opportunities 

 

 To provide educational opportunities to our members to promote lifelong learning for our 

profession. 

 

 To provide the public with an understanding and education of our profession and promote 

dialogue between us. 

 

 To share information and expertise with our fellow colleges in the council. 

 

 

Challenges 

 

 To complete the policies and procedures to support the NLCMLS and the Council. 

 

 To find best practices for the creation and administration of quality education for our members 

and the public. 
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Annual Report 2014 
 

1. MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIR 
 

Over the past twelve months the Newfoundland and Labrador College of Respiratory Therapists 
(the College) has continued to work on the foundational documents and policies required to 
accomplish our mandate of public protection. 

 
It is my pleasure to present the annual report for the Newfoundland and Labrador College of 
Respiratory Therapists. This report highlights the activities of the College for the period of January 
1st, 2014 to December 31st, 2014. Over the course of this time frame the Executive met 11 times 
and we are pleased to inform you that in October the College saw the completion of the framework 
for a common assessment tool for the evaluation of Internationally Educated Health Professionals 
(IEHP). This undertaking was in conjunction with the National Alliance of Respiratory Therapy 
Regulatory Bodies (NARTRB) and funded by Health Canada with the aim to create a National 
Assessment Process that could be adapted for the needs of all provinces. 

 
The process created was developed by consultants under direction from NARTRB and involving all 
regulated provinces.  A bank of Objective Structured Clinical Examinations (OSCE’S) was created to 
assess the clinical skills of IEHP applicants. The NLCRT has had the opportunity to assess our first 
IEHP in the fall of 2014, with the various components of the assessment completed over several 
months. An issue that was not addressed with the IEHP project funding, and needs to be available if 
required, was that of bridging the needs of an applicant (or bridging program) to facilitate 
registration if it was determined during assessment that there was a gap in the knowledge 
base/clinical skills of an IEHP. The need for a bridging program will be the next issue the college will 
begin to address in consultation with the Newfoundland and Labrador Council of Health 
Professionals (NLCHP).   

 
Our Annual General Meeting (AGM) and election of officers was held on October 18, 2014, and I am 
pleased to say that there was increased interest in becoming a member of the NLCRT executive. 
Following the business meeting, NLCRT hosted a number of educational sessions to provide 
attending members with professional development on current and relevant respiratory therapy 
education. The NLCRT provided via Webinar access to the AGM and educational sessions to all 
members in the province enabling increased provincial participation and input. This is the first AGM 
education component to be provided via this technology and the college is planning on providing a 
webinar on CE/Professionalism in late 2014 or early 2015. 
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2. EXECUTIVE MEMBERS 
 
This was an election year for the college, as such the executive changed after the AGM on October 18th, 
2014. 
 
Executive January 1st – October 18th, 2014 
 
 Chair     Bonnie O’Leary 
 Vice chair   Roger Cook 
 Secretary   Edna Cahill 
 Treasurer   Wanda Dollard 
 Elected member to Council Cheryl St.Croix 
 
 
Executive October 19th - December 31st, 2014 
 
 Chair    Bonnie O’Leary 
 Vice Chair   Scott LeMessurier 
 Secretary    Edna Cahill 
 Treasurer   Wanda Dollard 
 Elected member to Council Roger Cook 
 
 
Disciplinary Panel Members 
 Valerie Pritchett  3 years March 1, 3013- February 29, 2016 
 Iris Penney   3 years March 1, 3013- February 29, 2016 
 Michael Simmonds  2 years March 1, 2013-February 28, 2015 
 Wanda Dollard   2 years March 1, 2013-February 28, 2015 
 

3. MEMBERSHIP CATEGORIES 
In June the College of the North Atlantic graduated four Respiratory Therapy students who were 
registered as General Status Temporary members. All four challenged the national registry exam in 
July and were successful, resulting in a change of registration status to General Status. 
 
Total Registrants  141 (as of December 31st, 2014) 
General Status  141 
Non-Practicing     0 
Honorary      0 
Associate      0 
Student      0 
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4. MAJOR ACCOMPLISHMENTS OF THE COLLEGE 

Awards 
Dan Sudworth Memorial Award 
 
This award is given to the graduating respiratory therapy student who demonstrates 
clinical excellence in the critical care environment.  Clinical Instructors, in consultation with 
staff in the critical care area, select the student who most exemplifies the qualities of 
caring, compassion and exceptional patient care that was characteristic of Dan.  The 
recipient for 2014 was Stephanie Ryan. 
 
CAREstream Award of Excellence 
 
The recipient of the CAREstream Award of Excellence for 2014 was Amy Andrews. This 
Award recognizes a student in each Respiratory Therapy program who has successfully 
completed the national certification exam and has made a substantial achievement as a 
student. 
 

Education Funding 
 

Three applicants were awarded paid registration to the Canadian Society of Respiratory 
Therapists (CSRT) National Educational Forum in Montreal in May 2014. This year was the 
50th Anniversary of the CSRT and of particular importance to our College as our Past Chair 
Jessie Cox was proclaimed President of the CSRT. Congratulations Jessie. NLCRT provided a 
one day workshop in conjunction with Eastern Health, and this cost shared arrangement 
minimized the cost of providing education to our members and also permitted us to 
provide additional education sessions during our AGM with the same speaker. 

Website 
 

The Policy section of the website was unlocked to allow for public access and to increase 
transparency to the public by the profession. Forms were added as created and tabs added 
as necessary. There will be an "Internationally Educated" tab added early in the New Year. 

 

Quality Assurance 
 

The QA Pilot 2 audit was completed in March - April, 2014 and a synopsis of the feedback 
and audit results were provided to the Colleges and shared with the membership. The 
feedback has assisted NLCRT to make the essential changes to our QA program such as 
creating a documentation sheet and adopting the tally sheet used by the QA assessors. The 
QA assessors have indicated that there needs to be additional education with respect to 
the CE/PD requirements, so that members are fully aware of the requirements with respect 
to the categorization and the maximum number of CE credits per category. 
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The Assessors indicated that although there was improvement from Pilot 1, overall there 
continued to be limited documentation with respect to the specifics of the education 
session attended and a lack of supporting documentation for lectures and other 
educational sessions. Feedback from Pilot 2 was provided to the membership in June of 
2014, and we hope to see improvement in next years’ audit.   
 
In the Fall of 2014, a project funded by Health Canada in conjunction with NLCHP saw the 
development of a module on Jurisprudence by respiratory therapy content experts. NLCRT 
has agreed to make the Jurisprudence on-line education module as well as and the NL 
Personal Health Information Act (PHIA) education module mandatory for all registrants in 
2015. Both modules were also approved as a requirement for initial registration by the 
College and the Council. 
  

National Alliance of Respiratory Therapy Regulatory Bodies  
 

The College Chair and elected member to council are members of the National Alliance of   
Respiratory Therapy Regulatory Bodies (NARTRB). This body usually meets for 2 or 3 days 
twice a year in person and attends teleconference meetings throughout the year to deal 
with such Regulatory issues as updating the scope of practice known as the National 
Competency Profile. The current revision is now underway and will see a change to a 
framework structure that will be more versatile than the past profiles. The elected member 
to Council sits on the "Registrars committee" of NARTRB that will be overseeing this 
project. 
 
The Chair of the College sits on the "Presidents committee" of NARTRB and is involved in 
projects such as investigation of degree entry to practice, as Europe and the U.S. are 
moving in that direction, as well as  common regulatory issues across multiple provinces. 
 

Communication 
 

We continue to communicate with the membership on a regular basis, providing notice of 
educational opportunities, feedback from the Council committees and changes in 
registration requirements. NLCRT sent out our first edition of the College newsletter in the 
fall of 2014, which highlighted the importance of regulation. 

 

Policy Development 
 

This year we were unable to complete as many policies as we would have liked. However 
we completed a travel expense form and a policy to ensure we are transparent in our 
spending. 
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     Recognizing that we are a volunteer group with other full time responsibilities NLCHP has 
offered to assist the various colleges by sharing any college appropriate policies that the 
Council office has completed. This will be a tremendous help to volunteer executives as the 
research and leg work has been done and it reduces unnecessary duplication of work.  

5. OPPORTUNITIES 
 

The Council table provided many opportunities to exchange solutions to issues and 
collaborate when it makes sense to do so as we are all challenged with the same issues. It 
also provides Inter-professional education as we become further aware of each other’s 
discipline specific roles in the health care environment. Regulation has assisted our College 
in holding our members to the highest standard of care, and it has also allowed our 
members to work to a greater scope of practice. 

6. CHALLENGES 
 

The volume of work to be completed by a volunteer board continues to be a challenge for 
the College. However with the assistance of NLCHP in some policy development areas this 
will be of immense benefit.  
 
The executive has also had very preliminary discussions concerning additional membership 
involvement as it relates to long term succession planning for NLCRT.  

7. SUMMARY 
 

I would like to thank the NLCHP office staff who have always made themselves available to 
assist us in any way possible, without their support the challenges would be greater. I 
would also thank the Council who we work side by side to ensure public protection and 
quality care. A special thank you is extended to the College executive for their hard work 
and time volunteered to accomplish the tasks necessary for the mandate of the College. 
We finish this year a little wiser and a little better for the wear and tear. 
 
In the next year, our plan of action is to proceed with development and refinement of our 
College policies and processes to support our membership in providing the public of 
Newfoundland and Labrador with safe, qualified, and ethical care. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Bonnie O’Leary 
Chair NLCRT 
. 
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Appendix A 
 

Newfoundland and Labrador 
College of Respiratory Therapists 
Financial Report (unaudited) 
January 1st, 2014 - December 31st, 2014 
_________________________________________________________________ 

Opening Balance                                                                                  16,041.16  

 

 

Income 
                                                                                                                                                                   
 Membership dues      $19,654.64 
            Jurisprudence consultation           $200.00 
            Refund of airfare from CSRT.                                                  $746.80 
            Payment from Eastern health for workshop.                            $700.00  
         _________ 
      Total Income  $21,301.44   
       
 
 
 

Expenses 
           
         Bank Fees              $96.00 
 Website costs                       $904.00 
 Alliance meeting costs, 2 reps, twice per year               $5,147.58 
 Registration CSRT conference x 3                 $1,362.45 

Alliance Fees - NARTRB annual membership fees               $4,500.00 
 College mailbox.                                                                       $169.50 
            College meeting expenses.                                                      $110.01 
 AGM expenses (late cheque from last year inc).                   $1,521.56 
            Speaker Tom Piraino (cost share with EH above)                 $2,355.07 
 Incorporation fees.                                         $260.00 
            IEHP invigilator fees.                                                                $252.95 
                    _________ 
           Total expense                                                                      $16,679.12 
 
 
 Net Profit                  $20,663.48 
 
                                                 



 
 

The College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners 
and Acupuncturists of Newfoundland and Labrador. 
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Message from the Chair 
 

It is my pleasure to provide the Annual Report on the activities of the College of Traditional Chinese 
Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of Newfoundland and Labrador (CTCMPANL) “the College” 
for its 2013-2014 year. 
 
Consistent with the mandate of the College, we have worked closely with the Newfoundland and 
Labrador Council of Health Professionals (NLCHP) “the Council and the Canadian Alliance of Regulatory 
Bodies for Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists (CARB-TCMPA) “the Alliance” 
to create programs for provincial and national stability and governance for the profession, gargantuan 
and momentous efforts.    
 
Emerging as one of the great benefits is the sharing of expert opinion, materials and experience. The 
fulsome discussions and perspectives that occur at the Council and at the Alliance meetings are brought 
back to the College for consideration.  It is through this process, that we as a College fully understand 
the legislative and regulatory differences among member professions of the Council and member 
provinces of the Alliance and are able to seek common ground.  This serves well to enhance the 
protection of the public and to assist the professions facilitation of the national Agreement on Internal 
Trade (AIT).  
 
Up to now, the primary focus of the Council has been to develop its infrastructure and its governance 
programs that protect the public.  The Council has continued to develop its office procedures and 
operational computerized programs which now produce the data required that will propel the Council 
and the Colleges into a more focused paradigm.  
   
The primary focus of the Alliance has been the development its infrastructure and nationally unified 
competencies and assessment methods for the profession.  Having launched these national programs, 
emerging national examination statistics and provincial registration statistics will now assist in 
formulating our template for actions through 2015 and well beyond.  There remain new programs to 
develop and challenges to face. 
 
Our next few years will be more College focused.  We are required to develop our mandatory 
educational programs such as re-fresher and re-entry programs, an on-line personal educational 
qualification assessment profile for individuals to evaluate their preparedness for provincial/Canadian 
registration, a bridging program to accommodate foreign credentialed applicants, and a mentoring 
program should we maintain our temporary registration category.  We have much to do also in the area 
of CEU’s, assisting our members to maintain a high quality of practice.  
 
We must consider our College as part of a triad.  College, Council and Alliance.  While in essence our 
governance is jurisdictional, federal initiatives such as AIT, the emergence of “Fairness Commissioners”, 
the international agreements for foreign trade and the mobility of professionals and as well the 
changing face of Human Rights Legislation, are all requiring a level of integration.  We must evolve with 
this in mind and develop aligned policies, programs and By-Laws in as much as is possible to facilitate 
forward thinking, unified and strong actions.   Through this triad, we have stability and cohesion, we are 
uniquely positioned to see the successful translation of the professions goals into professional legislated 
regulated practice with the expertise to help shape this process from development to implementation, 
monitoring and evaluating.   
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In July of 2014, with the support of Council, we were pleased to have our promised and first meeting 
with the government regarding the continued unfolding of the Regulations for the full scope of the TCM 
profession.  We were well armed with supportive submission documents from British Columbia and 
Ontario and able to provide a substantial base on which a framework will be prepared for our TCMH and 
TCMP regulations. The work on this has now just begun. Through 2015 we will assemble our own team 
of advisors to consult with Government during this process.  Our success will make us the 3rd. Canadian 
province to regulate those levels of the profession.    
 
2014 has seen us through some difficulties in our own operations, with the resignation of some of our 
Board members.  Despite the resignations from the Board, the Board has worked to fulfil the vacancies 
and is committed to continue the work on your behalf. Continuing to work at both the College, Alliance 
and Council level is often time consuming but essential as all three organisations are in their infancy and 
there is a continual unfolding of learning and understanding, action and reaction, most especially during 
the development of infrastructure of not one but three groups.  In all three groups, and as it should be, 
there have been and will still be times when external advisors and programs are required to help us 
evaluate and improve our performance and balance our actions.  We must hold fast to the future vision, 
let the accomplishments bear witness to the journey at all points along the way.   

 
On a national level, looming on our horizon is the full defense of the profession publically and politically.  
We have become aware of considerable efforts being made at the provincial and national levels to 
undermine the stability of the current Colleges governance of the profession, as well as the Alliance and 
its work done.   It involves misrepresentation by specific groups, generating confusion at very high levels 
of government and government allied institutions.   
 

Provincially we will be required to act on our mandate to educate.  This now is the time for our 
Committees to become most active in the development of our own ways and means.    
 

As always, we encourage our members to become involved in the effort that will take us where we ought 

to be.  Know your profession needs you. 

And: 

As always, we extend our heart-felt thanks to our members who “hold the course” and work 
side by side, through thick and thin, tears and laughter to make it all come together. 
 

 
Ethne Munden 
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The College Board 
 
 
Our recent history 
 
Many years of work from volunteers devoted to the establishment of the TCM profession in 
Newfoundland and Labrador have culminated in Legislation (2010) and Regulation (2012) and the 
establishment of the College of Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists of 
Newfoundland and Labrador (CTCMPANL) (2012) “the College”. 
We were the 4th Canadian province to achieve this. 
 
With the establishment of the College, our professional mandate became one of public protection, 
meaning, governance of our members conjointly with the Newfoundland and Labrador Health 
Professionals Council (NLCHP) “the Council”.  We are a part of the Council through our two Board 
member representatives.   We have been instrumental in the development of the infrastructure and 
function on Committees of the Council. We have developed uniform Registration, Quality Assurance and 
Complaints and disciplinary processes and procedures that affect the health professions regulated under 
the Council.   
 
Registration with the Council and Membership in the College is mandatory as a point of Legislation and is 
a component of your continuing licence to practice. 
 
As a professional governing body, we fully participate as a member of the Canadian Alliance of 
Regulatory Bodies for Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists (CARB-TCMPA) 
“the Alliance”.   The Alliance has been established by agreement amongst the provinces which regulate 
our profession to develop programs of high quality and national uniformity in agreement with 
government prompted initiatives.   We are a part of the Alliance through two representatives, the Chair 
of the College Board and the Registrar for the Council.   As a member of the Alliance, we have 
participated in the establishment of Pan-Canadian Occupational Competencies for TCM Practitioners, 
(TCMP), TCM Herbalists (TCM.H) and TCM Acupuncturists (R.Ac) and also the pan-Canadian 
examinations for these categories within the TCM profession. 
 
Our earlier history 
 
In the years leading up to those momentous dates, and unions, we were active on several frontiers: 
Workers Health, Safety and Compensation Commission, Veterans Affairs, Insurance services (though we 
note insurance coverage by most major insurance service providers was achieved (1999)), and of course 
Revenue Canada regarding the HST imposed on the profession.  Some issues were resolved by virtue of 
Legislation and Regulation: HST, a national issue, required the regulation of the profession in five (5) 
Canadian provinces.  Regulation in Newfoundland quickly followed by Ontario as the 5th Canadian 
province to do so, secured a positive outcome. Veterans Affairs acknowledged our practitioners upon 
proclamation of our own NL Regulations.  Landmarks for the profession!    
 
As a Regulatory body, we will be able to impact upon health care policy both provincially and nationally, 
however, we can no longer advocate for the gain of the membership.   
 
 
Advocacy is now the mandate of your Association (CMAANL), which continues under a separate Board.  
The Association is not a Regulatory body but continues in the pursuit of issues impacting the profession 
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and the public:  WHSCC, Insurance provider services and more.  While membership in your Association is 
not mandatory, for the reasons noted, your CTCMPANL Board encourages support of your Association 
through continuing membership.   
 
In Sept. of 2012 upon proclamation of our Regulations, became the transitioning Board of the new 
College (two by Government appointment valid for a one year term).  On May 11, 2013 at a special 
meeting of the College members, the transitioning Board was unanimously voted as the Board of the 
College. This was to support continuity in all levels of development of the College, the Council and the 
Alliance.  Also at that time, we began our process for education and succession on the Board, which was 
expanded to include two new members. Over time, with the natural attrition and evolution of the Board, 
bringing in new Board members and maintaining the size of the Board will generate a Board of well 
informed and experienced advisors for the profession.  Your Board has piloted this profession into 
mainstream health care in Newfoundland and Labrador, secured National alliances and through the 
2014 year assured that the continuing legislation of the full TCM profession will evolve through the 
College. 
 
 
College Activities completed 2014: 

 College, Council and MUN Co-operative development of the Jurisprudence program ( Michele 

Collett and Valerie Genge participated as consultants for the profession, Board and Council review and 

approval) 

 Advertising policy and guidelines (Laurie Butt developed, Board and Council review and approval) 

 Policy on CPR and First Aid (Ethne Munden developed, Board and Council review and approval) 

 Policy on new mandatory educational requirements for registration and registration renewal 

(Personal Health and Information Act (PHIA) education course (Custodian and Direct Care 
modules) 
(Jurisprudence for Acupuncturists) 

      (Ethne Munden and Barbara Draper developed Board and Council review and approval) 

 Meeting with the Department of Health to begin the drafting of Regulations for Horology (TCMH 

and TCMP designations). (Ethne Munden and Registrar Louise Jones) 

 The administration of the first Pan Canadian examination in NL (Barbara Draper, Bengie Munden, 

Shelly Reid, Cheryl Oldford, Ethne Munden advisor) 

  
College Developmental activities: 

 Mentoring program 

 Re- entry program 

 Self-assessment for foreign applicants 

 Bridging program   

 Quality assurance information and assistance program 

 Web-site is ongoing 

 Newsletter 

 College brochures for the membership 

 
  



7 
 

College and Alliance infrastructure activities: 

 Installation of an interim Chair 

 Amendment of the By-Laws to consider all directors /representatives eligible to be officers of 

the Board 

 Amendment of the By-Laws to increase the mandate/term for the officers of the Board  

 The welcome of new provincial representatives on the CARB-TCMPA Board 

 The first statistical analysis of the examinations outcomes and the further refinement of 

examination components. 

 The finalizing and signing of the contract with Assessment Strategies Inc. to orchestrate the 

administration of the National examinations. 

 An internal agreement to admit and respect independent provincial examination policy with 

respect to time-lines. 

 The completion of our funding agreement with HRSDC. 

 Policy development for travel, submission of expenses and honorariums 

 An internal agreement to hire an executive assistant to assist the evolving administrative 

requirements of CARB-TCMPA  

 Development of the qualifications profile for the executive assistant 

 The initial phase of a web-site for CARB-TCMPA    

This is not inclusive of Board and Committee meetings and development and refinement of national 

examination materials. 

Our participants:  Ethne Munden, John Shieh, Michele Collett, Barbara Draper, Shelly Reid, Valerie 

Genge  

 

College and Council Infrastructure Activities: 

The Council meets monthly and its’ Committees meet separately.  The Council is an integrated function 
of its’ member Colleges. The policy and procedure manuals developed for Council function are the work 
of the Council Committees and the Registrar.  The highlights and accomplishments can be reviewed in 
their annual reports which are posted on the web-site www.nlchp.com.   The following are 
infrastructure accomplishments by the Board and its executive over the 2013-2014 year.  

 Participated in ongoing development of infrastructure for the Council and educational sessions 

to improve and guide the function of the Council. 

 Council met with the Department of Health and Community Services to discuss feedback on the 

legislation and that we received funding from Health Canada for the development of 

educational programs 

  Council approved from the Registration Committee policies developed on the General status 

(temporary) 

 Council approved from the Quality Assurance Committee (QA) the QA assessor manual and 

conducted pilot audits. 

 Council approved from the Complaints Authorization Committee (CAC) a conduct review 

manual.  

 Council from Finance Committee had its’ first audit, implemented a claims reserve fund for 

discipline hearings and approved the collection of college fees. 

http://www.nlchp.com/
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Our representatives on Council and Council Committees: Ethne Munden (CAC and Registration) 

                                                                                                        Barbara Draper (QA) 

 
Given the combined burden of duties of the College, the Council, Council Committees and the Alliance, 
the work load for the Board members has been heavy.  All members of the Board, have been expected 
to make decisions and develop policies, guidelines and standards consistent with the legislative 
framework to ensure that the public of Newfoundland and Labrador receive safe, qualified and ethical 
care from TCM Acupuncturists.  These duties are carried out with spirit and devotion to the profession.  
The attrition of Board members over the past year has caused some difficulty.  In accordance with our 
By-Laws we have canvassed our College membership for new voices on the Board.  We have secured 
two new members, both in active practice, and in good standing:  Cheryl Oldford (7 years clinical 
experience) and Bengie Munden (qualified in the full scope of TCM, member of the CTCMPANL  
Examination Committee, 14 years, clinical experience) both are prepared to fully devote their 
experience and particular expertise to the Board.  We still invite expressions of interest to the Board, in 
order to prepare for succession over time.   
 
Given past issues and new ones facing the profession, we have recognized the need for continuity of 

experience and familiarity in effectively functioning as a College, member of Council and member of the 

Alliance.  Given this, at this closing of the year, the Alliance has amended its By-Laws to allow a longer 

term for its’ officers.  The College Board, in keeping with past practice of the College, advises 

amendment of College By-Laws to agree with the Alliance and any similar amendment at the Council. 

 

We express our sincere gratitude to those members who have served the profession as members of the 

Board.  We commend their efforts and dedication. 

 

In order of their years of service we give thanks to: 

Maura Beam 

John Shieh 

Michele Collett 

Shelly Reid 

Valerie Genge 

The Board continues its’ mandate to protect the public interest and is fully accountable to the Minister 
of Health and the Newfoundland and Labrador Council of Health Professionals and the Canadian Alliance 
of Regulatory Bodies for Traditional Chinese Medicine Practitioners and Acupuncturists. 
 
The Board members of the College: 
Ethne Munden (Chair) 
Barbara Draper (Vice-Chair) 
Kenneth Clarke (Treasurer) 
Cheryl Oldford (Secretary) 
 
(There remains open an opportunity for three individuals to join the College Board.  Please submit your 
expressions of interest along with a brief statement of how you feel you could contribute as a valuable 
member of the Board)  
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Treasurer’s Report 
 
This has been a busy and productive year for the College.  We continue to operate within our budget 
and endeavor to keep expenditures to a minimum.   This year CARB/TCMPA has agreed to pay travel 
honorariums for our members attending National Exam meetings.  This has alleviated a large financial 
commitment for the College.   
 
The purchase of a printer has decreased our printing costs significantly.  We have engaged an 
accountant to do a review of our books and the work is completed for 2013.  The work to transfer the 
book keeping to Simply Accounting is ongoing.   
 
Recently there has been a change at the Board level and Kenneth Clarke is now the Treasurer.  Work 
continues at this time to transfer information from the current Treasurer to the incumbent. 
 
 
Barb Draper 
Past Chair Finance Committee 
Past Treasurer 
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Income Statement 
 

CTCMPANL INCOME STATEMENT 2014 

01/01/2014 - 31/12/2014 

Bank  Balance Jan. 1 2014 7826.06   

    2014 

Revenue Deposits to Date 27048.04 

Cash Petty Cash on hand 0.00 

  Travel Advance-Outstanding 0.00 

  Net Revenue 27048.04 

      

      

Expenses Accounting 0.00 

  Legal 1616.41 

  Courier & Postage 155.99 

  Insurance 2430.00 

  Interest & Bank Charges 72.60 

  Office Supplies (paper, ink cartridges) 272.12 

  Computer/Laptop 0.00 

  National Exam Travel Penalty 502.00 

  Cell Phone 0.00 

  Conference & Meetings 410.14 

  Website Maintenance 238.94 

  Copying 58.35 

  Fees & Dues 2000.00 

  Travel Advance (To come back to 
College) 

2343.69 

  Travel Honrarium 1600.00 

  Exam Costs 2397.73 

  Subtotal Expenses  14097.97 

Outstanding Payables None 0.00 

  Total Expenses 14097.97 
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CTCMPANL PROPOSED BUDGET 
Prepared November 10, 2014 

  

    REVENUE 2014 
 

Notes 
Currently in Account $19,158.66     

        

2015 Dues (approx) $12,000.00     

    TOTAL Revenue $31,158.66 
  

    

    
EXPENDITURES 2015 Projected 

2014 
Actual 2014 Projected 

CARB/ACOR Dues $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 

Insurance $2,430.00 $2,430.00 $2,430.00 

Website Maintenance $300.00 $238.94 $100.00 

Interest & Bank Charges $100.00 $72.60 $100.00 

Legal Fees $1,000.00 $1,616.41 $1,000.00 

Committee Support $1,000.00     

Accounting Fees $1,000.00 $0.00 $500.00 

Postage/Office Supplies $500.00 $428.11 $500.00 

Printing & Copying Services $300.00 $58.35 $500.00 

Conference & Meetings $200.00 $32.66 $200.00 

Communication Fee $1,200.00   $500.00 

Honorarium $2,000.00 $1,600.00 $3,400.00 

    Total $12,030.00 $8,477.07 
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Exam Committee Report 2014 
 
The Exam Committee organized and delivered the CTMCPANL Registration Exam to two candidates in 
2014.  In October, we had our first candidate write the Pan Canadian Written Examination here in 
Newfoundland, in addition to the OSKE stations. 
 
The Pan Canadian Written Examination consists of two written examinations, one is a multiple choice 
exam based on the full complement of TCM.  The second exam is a written exam focusing on case 
studies.  Currently the exam dates are set in October and January.  We will offer the OSKE stations to 
coincide with the National Written Examinations. 
 
Going forward, the full complement of stations (including the National written exam) will be offered 
twice per year.  The number of potential candidates will likely be small, but new applicants continue to 
apply and we must be prepared to satisfy the requirements for membership. 
 
The Committee saw one member retire this year and we have filled that position from the membership. 
 
Barb Draper 
Chair – Exam Committee 
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Advertising and Public Relations Committee Activity Report 
 

 
CTCMPANL 

 
October 27, 2014 
 
Name of Committee  

 Advertising and Public Relations (APR) Committee 
  
Date of Meetings/Email Correspondence: 

 December 30, 2013 – Email correspondence with College Chair pertaining to a reportedly 
distasteful ad with contact of the ad owner taking place on January 7, 2014 

 February 11-13, 2014 – Email correspondence with College Chair regarding Special Meeting on 
Advertising (although subsequently cancelled due to high member ability to attend) and 
submission of revised Advertising Guidelines to the Board 

 February 12, 2014 – Distribution of the Advertising guidelines to members for their review 
 September 25, 2014 – Laurie attended a meeting with College Chair to review Council’s 

recommendations of advertising guidelines and policy. 
 
Guidance from the Board  

 The Board has approved policy and guidelines (March 20, 2014) 

 The document needs to be dated and noted as per the above approval  

 April 4, 2014 – further guidance from the Board with requirement for one area of amendment 

 September 25, 2014 – Guidance from the College Chair regarding Council’s recommendations 
for further amendments in the proposed advertising guidelines and policy content 

 
Deliverables  

 October 26, 2014 – Newly updated advertising guidelines and policy has been submitted to the 
College Chair via email  

 
Discussionary items  

 N/A  
 
Action items 

APR Committee will review advertising if it is deemed as false and/or misleading as per the Policy of 
Advertising Guidelines under the category of Professional Misconduct 
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Date: Oct 25, 2014 
 

Annual Report of the Quality Assurance Advisory Committee  
 
Past activities of the Committee: 
During this past year the QAA committee of the College continued to be very active.  We continued to 
collaborate as required with the Council QA and College CE committees to assist the further 
development of the quality assurance program for the profession. 
 
In preparation for the first QA audit by Council, the Chair of the College QAA committee reviewed the 
QA and continuing education criteria with the membership of the college. 
 
As part of the quality assurance program for the profession, 2 members of the College, approved as QA 
Assessor’s, attended an education session provided by the Quality Assurance Committee of Council on 
September 25, 2013 
 
With the foundational frame work of the Quality Assurance CE program developed, our profession was 
one of three designated professions to engage in the Councils first Quality Assurance Audit.  In 
November 2013 a pilot audit of members CE portfolios was conducted by Council and it covered the 
period of January 1st, 2012 – December 31st, 2012.  Feedback was received and reviewed and 
profession specific documentation moderated as required. 
 
This year the QAA Committee continued to: 

I. Assist and advise Council QA Committee with the development of the college’s CE  as 
part of QA program requirements. 

II. Advise  CE Committee of QA program developments 
III. Make recommendations to the College board 

 
In collaboration with the CE committee, this committee has continued to moderate, contribute, discuss, 
determine and/or approve the following documents: 

(1) Acupuncture/TCM QA and CE policy programs from other regulated provinces. 
(2) CE guidelines, CE policy, CE log, CE Summary questions 
(3) QA Assessor audit form 

 
 
Michele Collett, Chair  
Quality Assurance Advisory Committee  
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College of Audiologists and  
Speech-Language Pathologists – 
Newfoundland and Labrador 

 

Annual Report 

With the proclamation of the Health Professions Act in June 2010, the professions of Audiology 

and Speech-Language Pathology were designated for self-regulation in the province of 

Newfoundland and Labrador.  The Act allows for the governance of multiple health professions 

under one Health Professions Council in combination with profession specific colleges.  The 

Health Professions Council has the responsibility for the regulation of all professions captured by 

the legislation including provisions of registration, quality assurance and discipline. The Act 

provides for the creation of profession specific colleges which would be a source of professional 

expertise to assist and guide the council in the establishment of criteria for registration, entry to 

practice and continued competency matters.  The Act authorizes profession specific colleges to 

establish by-laws, scope of practice, standards of practice and a code of ethics for the profession 

it represents.    

2014 was the first full year of regulation for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology in the 

province.  Significant preparatory work had been completed in prior years, and most notably in 

2013.  However, there were a number of policies written and/or completed in 2014.  As various 

situations arose, policies were developed or revised.  Specifically, work was completed on 

polices and processes around mentoring and re-entry to practice.   

The first Annual General Meeting was held on May 21, 2014.  Over 45 members participated 

either in-person or via teleconference.  Guest speakers were the Chair and Registrar from the 

NLCHP.  An election of executive members occurred in conjunction with the AGM.  Leona Lewis 

(Chair) and Marcella Dumaresque (Treasurer) were thanked for their service to the College.  

Jane MacAdam (Member at Large) and Maresa Moyles-Brazil (Treasurer) were welcomed to the 

Executive.   

 

Executive (after the AGM May 21, 2014) 

 Chris Murphy, Chair 

 Jillian Ryan, Vice-Chair 

 Jennifer Kryszak, Member to NL Council of Health Professionals 

 Maresa Moyles-Brazil, Treasurer 

 Rayleen Rice,  Secretary  

 Jane MacAdam,   Member at Large 
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NLCHP Disciplinary Panel 

 Irene Doody  Speech-Language Pathologist, Eastern Health 

 Ashleigh Noel  Speech-Language Pathologist, Private Practice 

 Janice McKay  Speech-Language Pathologist, English School District 

 Kim Lawlor  Speech-Language Pathologist, English School District 

 Karla Tucker  Audiologist, Private Practice 

 Christine Simms  Audiologist, Western Health 

 Beverly Bursey  Audiologist, Central Health 

 Erin Squarey  Audiologist, Private Practice 

 

Membership Categories (as of Dec 31, 2014) 

 General Status  (33 Aud + 112 SLP) 

 General Status Temporary (0) 

 Non-practicing (0) 

 

Major Accomplishments 

 Completed all necessary policies, standards and processes to support Registration 

 Continued work on Policies and Guidelines. 

 First Annual General Meeting was held on May 21, 2014 

 In conjunction with the Council, a successful first renewal registration was held in June 

of 2014. 

 The College Website was reviewed, and revisions are now taking place to make the 

website more informative and useful (for both members and the public). 

 A Jurisprudence Module was completed, as a joint effort of the College and Council 

 Completed the Continuing Education & Professional Development policy and supporting 

forms. 

 Completed policies required to support the operations of the College. 

 

Finances 

The Board continues to work with an accountant in all matters related to the financial 

operations of the College.  It has established a reserve fund to ensure the College remains able 

to conduct its legislated activities.  As seen from the financial statement, revenue is sufficient to 

support the ongoing activities of the CASLPNL.  Please find the Financial Review for the College 

appended to this report. 
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Summary 

The College of Audiologists and Speech-Language Pathologists was enacted with the 

proclamation of the Regulations, in April 2013.  Significant work has been completed to support 

the mandate of the College, but there is opportunity for further development. Priorities for the 

coming months will include further enhancements to the website, continued policy 

development, and development of a Mentoring Module. 2015 will be the first year that 

members are audited on the Continuing Education activities of the 2014 year. 

The College would like to acknowledge the continued and excellent support from the Council of 

Health Professions. As difficult as it is to run the College business, it would be immeasurably 

harder without help of the staff and members of the Council! 

The achievements to date have been the result of the ongoing commitment of numerous 

volunteers who recognize the fundamental importance of public protection and quality care.  

Sincere thanks are extended to all who have contributed to the progress of the College and the 

enhancement of services provided to the people of our province. 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

COLLEGE OF MIDWIVES  

NEWFOUNDLAND AND LABRADOR 

 

Annual Report 2014 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

COLLEGE OF MIDWIVES OF NEWFOUNDLAND AND LABRADOR 

Annual Report 2014 

Section 1  

 Name of the organization:  College of Midwives of NL 

Executive members: Not yet regulated so does not yet exist. 

Membership numbers and categories:  No members 

Major accomplishment (s) for the year:  College does not exist  

Section 2  

In 2011 two members of the Association of Midwives NL were nominated to the NLCHP (Pearl 

Herbert and Kay Matthews) and appointed by the Minister. They still represent midwives on the 

Board until midwifery is regulated and there are registered midwives available to replace them. 

 Some members of the Association of Midwives NL are currently revising documents previously 

written for the provincial Government’s Midwifery Implementation Committee 1999-2001, and 

the documents were updated in 2010.  

February 19, 2014, midwives were able to attend with registrants of Colleges regulated by the 

NLCHP, the education session provided by the Health Professions Regulator Network NL 

regarding “Alternate Dispute Resolution (ADR): Navigating the Continuum”.  

February 27, 2014, the report of Karyn Kaufman and Helen McDonald, midwives from Ontario, 

who the provincial government had contracted to provide information about Implementing 

Midwifery in Newfoundland and Labrador, was released by Minister Sullivan, Minister of Health 

and Community Services.  Some members of the Association of Midwives NL were able to be 

present at the Health Sciences Centre for this release. 

In 2014 Pearl Herbert and Ann Noseworthy were appointed to the provincial Regulation and 

Policy Advisory Committee, and Ann Noseworthy was also appointed to the provincial Midwifery 

Implementation Advisory Committee. These two committees first met in November 2014. 

As there is no College of Midwives there are no members.  However, midwives in this province 

and elsewhere are hoping that soon midwifery will be regulated and midwives will be able to 

practice.  Also, that midwives will have sufficient time to see the regulations, to be assessed as 

to what is needed, and to become registered to practice prior to the regulations being 

implemented. Women who have made arrangements for home births need to know in advance 

of the regulations becoming regulated so that they can make other arrangements, such as going 



out of province for the birth as many are adamant about not going to the hospital.  The danger 

could be of women delivering without professional assistance. Midwives, whether or not 

prospective members of the College, want safety for mothers and babies.  

January 14, 2015, was “The Premier’s Summit on Health Care” to which Pearl Herbert and Ann 

Noseworthy were invited. 

Section 3  

Financial Statement: Not applicable as no College currently exists.  Money will be needed to 

meet College requirements, such as a web site.  But, with no members there is no income. 

Section 4 

Both midwives and prospective parents are pleased that the provincial government is once 

again studying implementing midwifery in this province.  They are hoping that with the second 

government appointed midwifery implementation committee this will happen. 

The NL Council of Health Professionals advice and information is appreciated. 

Members of the Association of Midwives NL, a professional interest group, provide much 

assistance towards the writing/revising the documents required to move forward towards being 

regulated.  

 

Signed:  

 

Pearl Herbert 

Position: Chairperson 

Date:  February 23. 2015 

 



 

 
 

January 01, 2014 
- December 31, 2014 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Submitted: 
March 03, 2015 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
Section 1 Overview 
 

 Period: January 01, 2014 – December 31, 2014 
 
Executive Members: Nikki Curlew, chair Jan. 01- May31; Dan Mercer, chair 
June 1-Dec. 31; Angela Hynes, treasurer; Amanda Thomey. 
 
 
Membership: 
General Status Registration    199 
 
Non-Practicing Status         8 
 
Total       207 
 
General Status-Additional Skills    54 
 
  Local Anesthetic    32 
 
  Orthodontic     19 
 
  Restorative      3 
 
Accomplishments/Activities 
 
February NLCDH, in cooperation with NLCHP and other colleges, 

did commence in the writing of the Jurisprudence on-
line module. 

 
May Dan Mercer did attend the National Dental Hygiene 

Certification Board AGM and semi annual meeting in 
Regina Saskatchewan, representing the NLCDH. 

 
June Ms. Nikki Curlew completed her term as chair with the 

NLCDH.  Nikki’s contribution to the college and dental 
hygiene in this province has been tireless and 
invaluable.  Nikki continues to be a valuable resource 
for the college in her capacity on the executive of 
NLCDH. 
New chair, Dan Mercer, attended Oral Health 
Convention and NLDHA AGM to make presentation on 
behalf of the college. 
 



The NLCDH did commence with it’s first accounting 
audit, using the services of Mr. Richard Power, CA. The 
results of which are presented in appendix A. 

  
August The NLCDH held it’s second Annual General Meeting, at 

the Fluvarium in St. John’s, NL. 
 
September  Chair participated in NLCHP retreat. 
 
October The chair attended meetings of the Federation of Dental 

Hygiene Regulatory Authorities and the NDHCB in 
Moncton, New Brunswick. 

 
November The chair attended a NDHCB retreat in Winnipeg, 

Manitoba. 
  
 
The NLCDH holds regular executive meetings at least every four to six weeks.   
Policies concerning travel for executive members and approval of local  
anesthesia programs have been developed and approved, as well as the day  
to day affairs of the college. 
 
 
 

Section 2 Committees 
 
Education and Quality Assurance 
 
 This committee reviews and makes recommendations to the college around 
continuing education and professional development for  dental hygienists in NL. The 
committee has been working on a document to be completed by spring 2015.  This 
will include policy regarding professional development/continuing education 
criteria; number of hour credits required per year and  CPR renewal.   
 Following the completion and adoption of the policies, Ms. Nikki Curlew will 
be travelling the province providing information sessions to members on the 
Quality Assurance Program. 
 
 The NLCDH members will be participating in the first randomized audit of 
QA by the NLCHP.  The results and feedback are much anticipated in 2015. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Website Committee 
 
 Updates are made to website as changes and additions dictate.  
 
 
 
Finance Committee 
 
 The finance committee is entirely made up of the college executive and meets 
regularly every 4-6 weeks. The committee has developed policy regarding travel per 
diems and expenses.  It began an audit process with Richard Power, CA in June of 
2014.  The final report being delivered in February of 2015. 
 

All activities were found to be acceptable and no inconsistencies were found.  
This audit process was found to be expensive and a long process.  For the 2015 year, 
a more simplified, less expensive solution will be sought for the NLCDH as the 
activities of the college are minimal and the comprehensive audit may not be 
required on a yearly basis. 
 
Discipline Advisory Committee 
 

There has been limited activity regarding this committee in 2014.  The year 
2015 will bring to end the terms of some members requiring either renewal or new 
members asked to participate. 

 
The NLCDH executive did bring forward a complaint against one of it’s  

members, to the registrar of the NLCHP.  The matter was resolved in December 
through the alternative dispute resolution provision of the Health  

Profession Act. 

  

Ethics/ By-laws Committee 
 
There has been limited activity with this committee over the past year, as the  

code of ethics and by-laws are newly adopted.  However, the chair will be  
asking for a review of our documents over the coming year to ensure all is  
relevant and in accordance with other jurisdictions in Canada.  
 
Section 4 Financial Statement 
 
See appendix A 
 
Section 5 Conclusion 
 
Participation of the college membership is certainly a challenge for a relatively small 
group with apathy being a major obstacle.  The AGM was very poorly attended back 
in August.   



 
Given the geographic dispersion of our province, much of the college and council 
mandate has to be completed by those dental hygienists living in the St. John’s area.  
The biggest concern would be burnout of those dental hygienists currently 
participating in the college mandate, and succession of current positions. The 
NLCDH (along with the NLDHA) is trying to evaluate and create awareness amongst 
dental hygienists in this province.   
 
This would be seen as the biggest challenge. 
 
 
Respectively Submitted, 
 
Dan Mercer,  
chair NLCDH 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Members of The Newfoundland and Labrador College of Dental Hygienists  

I have audited the accompanying financial statements of The Newfoundland and Labrador College of Dental 
Hygienists, which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2014 and the statements of revenues 
and expenditures, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from  material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit.  I conducted my audit in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require that I comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.  

Opinion  

In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The 
Newfoundland and Labrador College of Dental Hygienists as at March 31, 2014 and the results of its operations and  
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

 

 
Clarenville, Newfoundland and Labrador  
December 19, 2014   CHARTERED ACCOUNTANT 
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Statement of Financial Position 

March 31, 2014 
 

 
 

 
ASSETS 

CURRENT 
 Cash $ 24,329  
 Prepaid expenses  530  

 
 $ 24,859  

 
 
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 

CURRENT 
 Accounts payable $ 1,800  

 

 
NET ASSETS 
 Unrestricted net assets  13,709  
 Contributed  surplus (Note 3)  9,350  

 
  23,059  

 
 $ 24,859  
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Statement of Revenues and Expenditures 

Year Ended March 31, 2014 
 

 
 
REVENUES $ 20,200  

 
EXPENSES 

 
 
 $ -  

 Advertising and promotion  1,250  
 Insurance  635  
 Interest and bank charges  193  
 Meetings and conventions  1,609  
 Office  1,004  
 Professional fees  1,800  

 
  6,491  

 
EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER EXPENSES $ 13,709  
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets 

Year Ended March 31, 2014 
 

 
 Unrestricted Contributed   

 Net Assets Surplus  2014  

 
  

NET ASSETS - BEGINNING OF YEAR $ -  $ -  $ -  
  

  -   -   -  
  

Funds received from NLDHA (Note 3)  -   9,350   9,350  
  

Excess of revenues over expenses  13,709   -   13,709  

 
 
   

 
   

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 

   

$ 13,709  

   

$ 9,350  

   

$ 23,059  
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Statement of Cash Flows 

Year Ended March 31, 2014 
 

 
 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
  Excess of revenues over expenses $ 13,709  

 
  Changes in non-cash working capital:   
   Accounts payable  1,800  
   Prepaid expenses  (530)  

 
  1,270   

 
  Cash flow from operating activities  14,979   

 
INVESTING ACTIVITY 
   Contributed surplus from NLDHA (Note 3)  9,350  

 
CASH - END OF YEAR $ 24,329  
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1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS      

The Newfoundland and Labrador College of Dental Hygienists (the "college") is incorporated under 
the Health Professionals Act of  Newfoundland And Labrador.   The college's principal business 
activity is to govern its members to serve and protect the public interest.  

 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES           

 Basis of presentation   

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with Accounting Standards for Not-for-Profit 
Organizations.  

 Revenue recognition   

The college recognizes revenues when they are earned, specifically when all the following conditions 
are met:  

    services are provided are delivered to its members  

    there is clear evidence that an arrangement exists  

    amounts are fixed or can be determined  

    the ability to collect is reasonably assured.  

 

3. CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS      

Contributed surplus relates to funds from the Newfoundland and Labrador Dental Hygienist 
Association that were transferred to the College during their initial year.  

 

 




